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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2010

OR

¨ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

for the transition period from              to             

Commission file number: 1-13888
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 06-1385548
(State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer

Identification Number)

12900 Snow Road

Parma, OH 44130
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip code)

Registrant�s telephone number, including area code: (216) 676-2000

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes  x    No  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or
for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).    Yes  x    No  ¨
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of �large accelerated filer,� �accelerated filer,� and �smaller reporting company� in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large Accelerated Filer x Accelerated Filer ¨

Non-Accelerated Filer ¨ Smaller Reporting Company ¨
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2).    Yes  ¨    No  x

As of July 19, 2010, 120,964,116 shares of common stock, par value $.01 per share, were outstanding.

Edgar Filing: GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 3



Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION:

Item 1. Financial Statements:

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2009 and June 30, 2010 (unaudited) Page 3

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Three Months and Six Months ended June  30, 2009 and 2010 (unaudited) Page 4

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Six Months ended June 30, 2009 and 2010 (unaudited) Page 5

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited) Page 6

Introduction to Part I, Item 2, and Part II, Item 1 Page 22

Item 2. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Page 27

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk Page 43

Item 4. Controls and Procedures Page 45

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION:

Item 1. Legal Proceedings Page 46

Item 1A. Risk Factors Page 46

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Securities and Use of Proceeds Page 51

Item 6. Exhibits Page 52

SIGNATURE Page 53

EXHIBIT INDEX Page 54

2

Edgar Filing: GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 4



Table of Contents

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in thousands, except share data)

(Unaudited)

At December 31,
2009

At June 30,
2010

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 50,181 $ 63,376
Accounts and notes receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $4,545 at December 31, 2009
and $3,888 at June 30, 2010 117,620 153,837
Inventories 245,511 267,463
Loan to non-consolidated affiliate 6,000 �  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 9,586 11,305

Total current assets 428,898 495,981

Property, plant and equipment 982,173 955,213
Less: accumulated depreciation 610,182 595,215

Net property, plant and equipment 371,991 359,998
Deferred income taxes 11,437 21,790
Goodwill 9,037 8,687
Other assets 7,298 11,692
Investment in non-consolidated affiliate 63,315 64,225
Restricted cash 632 386

Total assets $ 892,608 $ 962,759

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 33,928 $ 42,622
Short-term debt 1,113 �  
Accrued income and other taxes 38,977 43,784
Supply chain financing liability 14,404 44,008
Other accrued liabilities 91,907 93,071

Total current liabilities 180,329 223,485

Long-term debt 1,467 1,230
Other long-term obligations 108,267 101,191
Deferred income taxes 25,486 24,473
Contingencies � Note 14
Stockholders� equity:
Preferred stock, par value $.01, 10,000,000 shares authorized, none issued �  �  
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Common stock, par value $.01, 225,000,000 shares authorized, 124,027,399 shares issued at
December 31, 2009 and 124,596,168 shares issued at June 30, 2010 1,240 1,246
Additional paid-in capital 1,300,051 1,306,920
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (305,644) (348,844) 
Accumulated deficit (305,202) (232,352) 
Less: cost of common stock held in treasury, 3,974,345 shares at December 31, 2009 and 4,065,473 at
June 30, 2010 (112,511) (113,649) 
Less: common stock held in employee benefit and compensation trusts, 71,493 shares at December 31,
2009 and 73,691 shares at June 30, 2010 (875) (941) 

Total stockholders� equity 577,059 612,380

Total liabilities and stockholders� equity $ 892,608 $ 962,759

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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PART I (CONT�D)

GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

(Unaudited)

For the
Three Months Ended

June 30,

For the
Six Months Ended

June 30,
2009 2010 2009 2010

Net sales $ 157,774 $ 254,854 $ 291,800 $ 470,518
Cost of sales 112,086 180,127 213,986 327,688

Gross profit 45,688 74,727 77,814 142,830
Research and development 3,109 3,191 5,177 5,726
Selling and administrative expenses 23,095 32,308 44,730 54,819

Operating income 19,484 39,228 27,907 82,285

Equity in losses (earnings) and write-down of investment in non-consolidated affiliate 54,602 (1,684) 53,390 (910) 
Other expense (income), net 3,270 (8,596) (2,264) (11,855) 
Interest expense 1,421 1,296 3,068 2,202
Interest income (184) (507) (301) (1,068) 

(Loss) income before provision for income taxes (39,625) 48,719 (25,986) 93,916
(Benefit) provision for income taxes (2,534) 9,397 2,636 21,066

Net (loss) income $ (37,091) $ 39,322 $ (28,622) $ 72,850

Basic (loss) income per common share:
Net (loss) income per share $ (0.31) $ 0.33 $ (0.24) $ 0.61

Weighted average common shares outstanding 119,893 120,340 119,402 120,395

Diluted (loss) income per common share:
Net (loss) income per share $ (0.31) $ 0.32 $ (0.24) $ 0.60

Weighted average common shares outstanding 119,893 121,088 119,402 121,083
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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PART I (CONT�D)

GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Dollars in thousands)

(Unaudited)

For the
Six Months Ended

June 30,
2009 2010

Cash flow from operating
activities:
Net (loss) income $ (28,622) $ 72,850
Adjustments to reconcile net
income to cash provided by
operations:
Depreciation and amortization 16,202 18,697
Deferred income tax provision
(benefit) 848 (8,242) 
Equity in losses (earnings) and
write-down of investment in
non-consolidated affiliate 53,390 (910) 
Post-retirement and pension
plan changes 5,398 4,689
Currency (gains) (3,682) (14,768) 
Stock-based compensation,
including incentive
compensation paid in company
stock 4,958 3,404
Interest expense 660 1,029
Other charges, net 12,599 2,416
Dividends from
non-consolidated affiliate 122 �  
Decrease (increase) in working
capital* 3,403 (60,912) 
(Increase) in long-term assets
and liabilities (4,845) (4,318) 

Net cash provided by operating
activities 60,431 13,935

Cash flow from investing
activities:
Capital expenditures (29,964) (30,282) 
Proceeds from repayments of
loan to non-consolidated
affiliate �  6,000
Proceeds (payments) from
derivative instruments 263 (120) 
Net change in restricted cash (19) 246
Other 69 203
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Net cash used in investing
activities (29,651) (23,953) 

Cash flow from financing
activities:
Short-term debt borrowings
(reductions), net 2,529 (892) 
Revolving Facility borrowings 114,715 �  
Revolving Facility reductions (112,000) �  
Principal payments on
long-term debt (129) (56) 
Supply chain financing (30,115) 29,604
Proceeds from exercise of stock
options 57 1,015
Purchase of treasury shares �  (1,138) 
Excess tax benefit from
stock-based compensation

Vicuron is responsible for providing us with all information in its possession relating to
Ramoplanin in our licensed field, for cooperating with us in obtaining regulatory
approvals of Ramoplanin and for using diligent efforts to provide us with bulk
Ramoplanin sufficient to carry out our clinical development activities. We believe that
we are currently in compliance with our obligations under the License and Supply
Agreement, but there can be no assurance that we will be able to remain in compliance
due to the limitations on our resources and the many risks of conducting clinical trials,
as described above in �Clinical trials are costly, time consuming and unpredictable, and
we have limited experience conducting and managing necessary preclinical and clinical
trials for our product candidates.�

Under our agreement with Vicuron, Vicuron has the obligation to prosecute patents
relating to Ramoplanin that are made by Vicuron personnel or conceived jointly by our
personnel and Vicuron�s personnel. We have the obligation to prosecute patents relating
to Ramoplanin that are made solely by our personnel. We have the right to control any
suits brought by a third party alleging that the manufacture, use or sale of Ramoplanin
in our licensed field in the United States or Canada infringes upon our rights. We will
bear the costs of any such actions, which could be substantial; provided that if we are
obligated to pay any royalties or other payments to a third party to sell Ramoplanin as a
result of this litigation, including any settlement reached with Vicuron�s consent,
Vicuron is obligated to pay that expense. We also have the primary right to pursue
actions for infringement of any patent licensed from Vicuron within the United States
and Canada within our licensed field. Vicuron has the primary right to pursue actions
for infringement of any patents that it licenses to us outside of our licensed field within
the United States and Canada and for all purposes outside of the United States and
Canada. If the party with the primary right to pursue the infringement action elects not
to pursue it, the other party generally has the right to pursue it. The costs of any
infringement actions are first paid out of any damages recovered and are then allocated
to the parties depending upon their interest in the suit. The costs of pursuing any such
action could substantially diminish our resources.

Our proprietary position may depend on our ability to protect trade secrets.

We rely upon trademarks, unpatented trade secrets and improvements, unpatented
know-how and continuing technological innovation to develop and maintain our
competitive position. We generally protect this information with confidentiality
agreements that provide that all confidential information developed or made known to
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others during the course of the employment, consulting or business relationship shall be
kept confidential except in specified circumstances. Agreements with employees
provide that all inventions conceived by the individual while employed by us are our
exclusive property. We cannot guarantee, however, that these agreements will be
honored, that we will have adequate remedies for breach if they are not honored or that
our trade secrets will not otherwise become known or be independently discovered by
competitors.

We may infringe the intellectual property rights of third parties and may become
involved in expensive intellectual property litigation.

The intellectual property rights of biotechnology companies, including us, are generally
uncertain and involve complex legal, scientific and factual questions. Our success in
developing and commercializing biopharmaceutical products may depend, in part, on
our ability to operate without infringing on the intellectual property rights of others and
to prevent others from infringing on our intellectual property rights.

There has been substantial litigation regarding patents and other intellectual property
rights in the biopharmaceutical industry. We may become party to patent litigation or
proceedings at the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office or a foreign patent office to
determine our patent rights with respect to third parties which may include competitors
in the biopharmaceutical industry. Interference proceedings in the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office or opposition proceedings in a foreign patent office may be
necessary to establish which party

19
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was the first to discover such intellectual property. We may become involved in patent
litigation against third parties to enforce our patent rights, to invalidate patents held by
such third parties, or to defend against such claims. The cost to us of any patent
litigation or similar proceeding could be substantial, and it may absorb significant
management time. We do not expect to maintain separate insurance to cover intellectual
property infringement. Our general liability insurance policy does not cover our
infringement of the intellectual property rights of others. If an infringement litigation
against us is resolved unfavorably, we may be enjoined from manufacturing or selling
certain of our products or services without a license from a third party. We may not be
able to obtain such a license on commercially acceptable terms, or at all.

International patent protection is uncertain.

Patent law outside the United States is uncertain and is currently undergoing review
and revision in many countries. Further, the laws of some foreign countries may not
protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as U.S. laws. We may
participate in opposition proceedings to determine the validity of our or our competitors�
foreign patents, which could result in substantial costs and diversion of our efforts.

We may not realize all of the anticipated benefits of the merger with Genesoft.

The success of our merger with Genesoft will depend, in part, on our ability to realize
the anticipated synergies, cost savings and growth opportunities from integrating our
business with the former business of Genesoft. Our success in realizing these benefits
and the timing of this realization depends upon the successful integration of the former
operations of Genesoft. The full integration of two independent companies, especially
when one company is located on the West Coast and the other on the East Coast, is a
complex, costly and time-consuming process. The difficulties of combining the
operations of the companies and realizing the expected benefits of the merger include,
among others:

� coordinating commercial and clinical development initiatives and staffs for
FACTIVE and Ramoplanin;

� raising sufficient capital to fund the significant expenditures that are needed to
launch and successfully commercialize FACTIVE and the further clinical
development of Ramoplanin;

� retaining key employees;

� consolidating research and development operations;
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� consolidating corporate and administrative infrastructures and physical plant;

� integrating and managing the technology of two companies; and

� minimizing the diversion of management�s attention from ongoing business
concerns.

We cannot assure you that we will realize the full benefits anticipated by us to result
from the merger. In addition, we may not have sufficient capital to fully implement our
strategies following the merger which may cause a delay in the launch of FACTIVE
tablets and could further prevent us from realizing the anticipated benefits of the
merger.

Our debt obligations expose us to risks that could adversely affect our business,
operating results and financial condition.

We have a substantial level of debt. As of September 25, 2004, after giving effect to the
issuance and sale of the convertible notes during the second quarter of this fiscal year,
we had approximately $176 million of indebtedness outstanding (excluding trade
payables and accrued liabilities). The level of our indebtedness, among other things,
could:

� make it difficult for us to make payments on our debt outstanding from time to
time;

� make it difficult for us to obtain any necessary financing in the future for working
capital, capital expenditures, debt service, acquisitions or general corporate
purposes;

20
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� limit our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business;

� reduce funds available for use in our operations;

� impair our ability to incur additional debt because of financial and other
restrictive covenants;

� make us more vulnerable in the event of a downturn in our business; or

� place us at a possible competitive disadvantage relative to less leveraged
competitors and competitors that have better access to capital resources.

If we experience a decline in revenues due to any of the factors described in this
prospectus or otherwise, we could have difficulty making required payments on our
indebtedness. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow or otherwise obtain
funds necessary to make required payments, or if we fail to comply with the various
requirements of our indebtedness, we would be in default, which would permit the
holders of our indebtedness to accelerate the maturity of the indebtedness and could
cause defaults under any indebtedness we may incur in the future. Any default under
our indebtedness could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results
and financial condition.

Our ability to meet our debt service obligations will depend upon our future
performance, which will be subject to financial, business and other factors affecting our
operations, many of which are beyond our control.

Risks related to our industry

Health care insurers and other payers may not pay for our products or may impose
limits on reimbursement.

Our ability to commercialize FACTIVE tablets, Ramoplanin and our future products
will depend, in part, on the extent to which reimbursement for such products will be
available from third-party payers, such as Medicare, Medicaid, health maintenance
organizations, health insurers and other public and private payers. If we succeed in
bringing FACTIVE tablets, Ramoplanin or other products in the future to market, we
cannot assure you that third-party payers will pay for such products or will establish
and maintain price levels sufficient for realization of an appropriate return on our
investment in product development. If adequate coverage and reimbursement levels are
not provided by government and private payers for use of our products, our products
may fail to achieve market acceptance and our results of operations may be materially
adversely affected. In addition, in December 2003 President Bush signed into law new
Medicare prescription drug coverage legislation. While we cannot yet predict the
impact the new legislation could have on our ability to commercialize FACTIVE
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tablets, Ramoplanin and any future products, the new legislation could adversely affect
our anticipated revenues and results of operations, possibly materially.

Many health maintenance organizations and other third-party payers use formularies, or
lists of drugs for which coverage is provided under a health care benefit plan, to control
the costs of prescription drugs. Each payer that maintains a drug formulary makes its
own determination as to whether a new drug will be added to the formulary and
whether particular drugs in a therapeutic class will have preferred status over other
drugs in the same class. This determination often involves an assessment of the clinical
appropriateness of the drug and sometimes the cost of the drug in comparison to
alternative products. We cannot assure you that FACTIVE tablets, Ramoplanin or any
of our future products will be added to payers� formularies, whether our products will
have preferred status to alternative therapies, nor whether the formulary decisions will
be conducted in a timely manner. We may also decide to enter into discount or
formulary fee arrangements with payers, which could result in our receiving lower or
discounted prices for FACTIVE tablets, Ramoplanin or future products.

Wholesalers, Pharmacies and Hospitals may not provide adequate distribution for
our Products.

Our ability to commercialize FACTIVE tablets, Ramoplanin and our future products,
will depend, in part, on the extent to which we obtain adequate distribution of our
products via wholesalers, pharmacies and hospitals, as well as other customers.
Wholesalers and larger retailers may be reluctant to stock and distribute Oscient
products since we are not a large, well-established company. If we do not obtain
adequate distribution of our products, the commercial launch of FACTIVE and our
anticipated revenues and results of operations could be adversely affected.

21
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If a successful product liability claim or series of claims is brought against us for
uninsured liabilities or in excess of insured liabilities, we could be forced to pay
substantial damage awards.

The use of any of our product candidates in clinical trials, and the sale of any approved
products, might expose us to product liability claims. We currently maintain, and we
expect that we will continue to maintain, product liability insurance coverage in the
amount of $10 million per occurrence and $10 million in the aggregate. Such insurance
coverage might not protect us against all of the claims to which we might become
subject. We might not be able to maintain adequate insurance coverage at a reasonable
cost or in sufficient amounts or scope to protect us against potential losses. In the event
a claim is brought against us, we might be required to pay legal and other expenses to
defend the claim, as well as uncovered damage awards resulting from a claim brought
successfully against us. Furthermore, whether or not we are ultimately successful in
defending any such claims, we might be required to direct financial and managerial
resources to such defense and adverse publicity could result, all of which could harm
our business.

In addition, a product recall or excessive warranty claims (in any such case, whether
arising from manufacturing deficiencies, labeling errors or other safety or regulatory
reasons) could have an adverse effect on our product sales or require a change in the
indications for which our products may be used.

Risks related to the notes and our common stock

Our debt obligations expose us to risks that could adversely affect our business,
operating results and financial condition, and prevent us from fulfilling our
obligations under the notes.

We have a substantial level of debt. As of September 25, 2004, we had approximately
$176 million in indebtedness. The level of our indebtedness, among other things, could:

� make it difficult for us to make payments on our debt as described below;

� make it difficult for us to obtain any necessary financing in the future for working
capital, capital expenditures, debt service, acquisitions or general corporate
purposes;

� limit our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business;

� reduce funds available for use in our operations;
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� impair our ability to incur additional debt because of financial and other
restrictive covenants;

� make us more vulnerable in the event of a downturn in our business; or

� place us at a possible competitive disadvantage relative to less leveraged
competitors and competitors that have better access to capital resources.

If we experience a decline in revenues due to any of the factors described in this Risk
factors section or otherwise, we could have difficulty making required payments on our
indebtedness. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow or otherwise obtain
funds necessary to make required payments, or if we fail to comply with the various
requirements of our indebtedness, including the notes, we would be in default, which
would permit the holders of our indebtedness to accelerate the maturity of the
indebtedness and could cause defaults under any indebtedness we may incur in the
future. Any default under our indebtedness could have a material adverse effect on our
business, operating results and financial condition.

Other than a pledge of U.S. government securities in an amount equal to the first six
scheduled interest payments on the notes for the benefit of the holders of the notes,
the notes are unsecured and rank equally with our other senior indebtedness and are
structurally subordinated to all liabilities of our subsidiaries.

Other than a pledge of U.S. government securities in an amount equal to the first six
scheduled interest payments on the notes for the benefit of the holders of the notes, the
notes are unsecured and rank equally with all of our other existing and future senior
indebtedness. The notes will be effectively subordinated to any secured debt we may
incur. In any liquidation, dissolution, bankruptcy or other similar proceeding, holders of
our secured debt may assert rights against assets securing such debt in order to receive
payment in full before those assets

22
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may be used to pay holders of the notes. As of September 25, 2004, we had
approximately $176 million of indebtedness outstanding (excluding trade payables,
accrued liabilities and intercompany liabilities). We have purchased and pledged for the
exclusive benefit of the holders of the notes an amount of U.S. government securities,
which we expect will be sufficient, upon receipt of scheduled principal and interest
payments thereon, to provide for the payment in full of the first six scheduled interest
payments on the notes when due. The notes will not be secured by any other collateral.

If you hold notes, you will not be entitled to any rights with respect to our common
stock, but you will be subject to all changes made with respect to our common stock.

If you hold notes, you will not be entitled to any rights with respect to our common
stock (including voting rights and rights to receive any dividends or other distributions
on our common stock), but you will be subject to all changes affecting the common
stock. You will have rights with respect to our common stock only if and when we
deliver shares of common stock to you upon conversion of your notes and, in limited
cases, under the conversion rate adjustments applicable to the notes. For example, in
the event that an amendment is proposed to our certificate of incorporation or by-laws
requiring stockholder approval and the record date for determining the stockholders of
record entitled to vote on the amendment occurs prior to delivery of the common stock
to you, you will not be entitled to vote on the amendment, although you will
nevertheless be subject to any changes in the powers, preferences or special rights of
our common stock.

The notes do not restrict our ability to incur additional debt or to take other actions
that could negatively impact holders of the notes.

We are not restricted under the terms of the notes from incurring additional
indebtedness, including senior indebtedness or secured debt. In addition, the limited
covenants applicable to the notes do not restrict our ability to pay dividends, issue or
repurchase stock or other securities or require us to achieve or maintain any minimum
financial results relating to our financial position or results of operations. Our ability to
recapitalize, incur additional debt and take a number of other actions that are not
limited by the terms of the notes could have the effect of diminishing our ability to
make payments on the notes when due. In addition, the indentures do not afford
protection to holders of the notes in the event of a fundamental change except to the
extent described under �Description of Notes�Repurchase of the notes at the option of
holders upon a fundamental change.�

We may be unable to repay or repurchase the notes or our other indebtedness.

At maturity, the entire outstanding principal amount of the notes will become due and
payable. In addition, if a fundamental change, as defined under �Description of
Notes�Repurchase of the notes at the option of holders upon a fundamental change,�
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occurs, you may require us to repurchase all or a portion of your notes. We may not
have sufficient funds or may be unable to arrange for additional financing to pay the
repurchase price of the notes or the principal amount due at maturity. Any future
borrowing arrangements or debt agreements to which we become a party may contain
restrictions on or prohibitions against our repayment or repurchase of the notes. If we
are prohibited from repaying or repurchasing the notes, we could try to obtain the
consent of lenders under those arrangements, or we could attempt to refinance the
borrowings that contain the restrictions. If we do not obtain the necessary consents or
refinance the borrowings, we will be unable to repay or repurchase the notes. Any such
failure would constitute an event of default under the indentures which could, in turn,
constitute a default under the terms of our other indebtedness.

An active public market may not develop for the notes.

In May 2004, we issued the notes in private placements. Since their initial issuance, the
notes have been eligible for trading on the PORTAL Market of the National
Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Notes resold under this prospectus, however,
will no longer trade on the PORTAL Market. We do not intend to apply for a listing of
the notes on any securities exchange or automated dealer quotation system. At the time
of the initial issuance of the notes, the initial purchasers advised us that they currently
intended to make a market in the notes; however, they are not obligated to do so and
may discontinue this market-making activity at any time without
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notice. In addition, market making activity by the initial purchasers will be subject to
the limits imposed by the Securities Act and the Exchange Act. As a result, a market for
the notes may not develop or, if one does develop, it may not be maintained. If an
active market for the notes fails to develop or be sustained, the trading price of the
notes could decline significantly. In addition, the liquidity of the trading market for the
notes, if any, and the market price quoted for the notes may be adversely affected by
changes in interest rates in the market for comparable securities and by changes in our
financial performance or prospects, as well as by declines in the prices of securities, or
the financial performance or prospects of similar companies.

The price of our common stock, and therefore the price of the notes, may fluctuate
significantly, which may make it difficult for holders to resell the notes or the
common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes when desired or at attractive
prices.

The market price of the notes is expected to be affected significantly by the market
price of our common stock. The market price of our common stock is subject to
significant fluctuations in response to the factors in this section and other factors, many
of which are beyond our control. Over the two-year period ending September 25, 2004
the closing price of our common stock as reported on the Nasdaq National Market
ranged from a high of $7.01 to a low of $1.03. The stock market has from time to time
experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that are unrelated to the operating
performance of particular companies. In the past, companies that have experienced
volatility have sometimes been the subject of securities class action litigation. If
litigation were instituted on this basis, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion
of management�s attention and resources. These broad market fluctuations may
adversely affect the price of our common stock, regardless of our operating
performance. Because the notes are convertible into shares of our common stock,
volatility of or depressed prices for our common stock could have a similar effect on
the trading price of the notes. In addition, because the notes are convertible into
common stock only at a conversion price in excess of the recent trading price, a decline
in our common stock price may cause the value of the notes to decline. Holders who
receive common stock upon conversion of the notes also will be subject to the risk of
volatility and depressed prices of our common stock.

The sale of a significant number of shares could cause the market price of our stock
to decline.

Sales of substantial amounts of shares of our common stock in the public market after
this offering, or the perception that those sales may occur, could cause the market price
of our common stock to decline. The indentures do not restrict our ability to issue
additional shares of common stock or other securities convertible into or exchangeable
for our common stock. We have used and may continue to use our common stock or
securities convertible into or exchangeable for our common stock to acquire
technology, product rights or businesses, or for other purposes. As of November 5,
2004, we had approximately 75,193,882 shares of common stock outstanding. In
connection with the Genesoft merger, we issued approximately 29 million shares of our
common stock to the former Genesoft shareholders. All of these shares are eligible for
sale on the Nasdaq National Market, although certain of the shares are subject to sales
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volume and other limitations.

As of September 25, 2004, options to purchase approximately 8,315,518 shares of our
stock upon exercise of options with a weighted average price per share of $4.23 were
outstanding under our equity incentive plan and certain equity plans that we assumed in
the merger with Genesoft. As of September 25, 2004, we had 4,982,891 options
available for future grant. We also have 808,242 shares of common stock available for
sale under our employee stock purchase plan as of September 25, 2004. As of
September 25, 2004, warrants to purchase approximately 3,238,262 shares of our
common stock with a weighted average exercise price per share of $4.00 were
outstanding, of which 3,089,806 have been registered for resale and are therefore freely
tradeable without restriction.

Conversion of the notes will dilute the ownership interests of existing stockholders.

The conversion of some or all of the notes will dilute the ownership interest of our
existing stockholders. Any sales in the public market of the common stock issuable
upon such conversion could adversely affect prevailing market prices of our common
stock. In addition, the existence of the notes may encourage short selling by market
participants because the conversion of the notes could depress the price of our common
stock.
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Rating agencies may provide unsolicited ratings on the notes that could reduce the
market value or liquidity of the notes.

We have not requested a rating of the notes from any rating agency and believe it is
unlikely that the notes will be rated. However, if one or more rating agencies rates the
notes and assigns the notes a rating lower than the rating expected by investors, or
reduces their rating in the future, the market price or liquidity of the notes and our
common stock could be harmed.

The notes are not protected by restrictive covenants.

The indentures governing the notes do not contain any financial covenants or
restrictions on the payment of dividends. The indentures do not restrict the issuance or
repurchase of securities by us or our subsidiaries. The indentures contain no covenants
or other provisions to afford you protection in the event of a highly leveraged
transaction, such as a leveraged recapitalization, that would increase the level of our
indebtedness, or a change in control except as described under �Repurchase of notes by
us at the option of the holder upon a fundamental change.� Neither we nor our
subsidiaries are restricted from incurring additional debt, including senior indebtedness,
under the indentures. If we or our subsidiaries were to incur additional debt or
liabilities, our ability to pay our obligations on the notes could be adversely affected.

Adjustments to the conversion rate on the notes may result in a taxable distribution to
you.

Although to date we have never paid cash dividends on our common stock, if in the
future we pay a cash dividend on our common stock and there is a resulting adjustment
to the conversion price, a note holder could be deemed to have received a taxable
dividend subject to US federal income tax without the receipt of any cash. Other
adjustments in the conversion ratio (or failures to make such adjustments) that have the
effect of increasing your proportionate interest in our assets or earnings may have the
same result. Any such deemed dividends would be taxable as described in �Certain US
federal tax consequences.�

Certain of our financial statements have been audited by Arthur Andersen LLP, and
the ability to recover damages from Arthur Andersen may be limited.

Prior to June 24, 2002, Arthur Andersen LLP served as our independent public
accountants. Our inability to obtain the consent of Arthur Andersen to include its report
on certain financial statements audited by Arthur Andersen may limit your recovery
against Arthur Andersen. SEC rules require us to include or incorporate by reference
certain historical financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000
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that were audited by Arthur Andersen. As a result of the well-publicized events
concerning Arthur Andersen, we have not been able to obtain the consent of Arthur
Andersen to the inclusion of its audit report in financial statements audited by them and
will not be able to obtain Arthur Andersen�s consent in the future. The absence of this
consent may limit any recovery to which you might be entitled against Arthur
Andersen. It is also likely that these events concerning Arthur Andersen would
materially adversely affect its ability to satisfy any claims we might have arising from
its provision of auditing and other services to us.
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Deficiency of earnings available to cover fixed charges

(in thousands)

The following table sets forth our historical deficiency of earnings available to cover
fixed charges for each of our five most recent fiscal years and our pro forma deficiency
of earnings available to cover ratio of earnings to fixed charges for the year ended
December 31, 2003. The �pro forma� information for the six months ended September
25, 2004 reflects our issuance of $152,750,000 of 3.5% Senior Convertible Notes Due
2011, as if these events had occurred as of January 1, 2004.

Pro Forma

Nine Months Ended

September 25,

2004

Actual
Nine Month Ended

September 25,

2004

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Deficiency
of
earnings
available
to cover
fixed
charges
(1)(2) $(63,341) $(60,989) $ (29,789) $ (34,017) $ (10,090) $ (5,847) $ (3,940)

(1) Earnings were inadequate to cover fixed charges. We needed additional earnings, as
indicated by the deficiency of earnings available to cover fixed charges for each of
the periods presented above, to achieve a ratio of earnings to fixed charges of 1.0x.

(2) The deficiency of earnings available to cover fixed charges is computed by
subtracting fixed charges from earnings before income taxes and minority interest
plus fixed charges. Fixed charges consist of interest expense plus that portion of net
rental expense deemed representative of interest.

Use of proceeds

The selling securityholders will receive all of the proceeds from the sale of the notes
and the common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes offered by this prospectus.
We will not receive any proceeds.

The selling securityholders will not cover any of the expenses that are incurred by us in
connection with the registration of the notes or common stock issuable upon conversion
of the notes, but they will pay any commissions, discounts and other compensation to
any broker-dealers through whom they sell any of the notes or common stock issuable
upon conversion of the notes.
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Description of notes

The notes were issued under indentures dated as of May 10, 2004, which we refer to as
the indentures, between us and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, which we
refer to as the trustee. The terms of the notes include those expressly set forth in the
indentures and those made part of the indentures by reference to the Trust Indenture
Act of 1939, as amended, which we refer to as the Trust Indenture Act. The pledge
agreement referred to below under the caption ��Security� defines the terms of the pledge
that secures the payment of the first six interest payments on the notes when due.

This description of notes is intended to be a useful overview of the material provisions
of the notes, the indentures and the pledge agreement. Since this description is only a
summary, you should refer to the indentures and the pledge agreement for a complete
description of our obligations and your rights.

For purposes of this description, references to �the Company,� �Oscient Pharmaceuticals,�
�we,� �our� and �us� refer only to Oscient Pharmaceuticals Corporation and not to any of its
subsidiaries.

General

The notes:

� are our general unsecured, senior obligations (except to the extent described
under ��Security� below);

� mature on April 15, 2011, unless earlier converted, repurchased or redeemed;

� will accrue interest at a rate of 3 1/2% per year payable in cash on each April 15
and October 15, beginning on October 15, 2004, to record holders at the close of
business on the preceding April 1 and October 1, respectively, except as set forth
under ��Interest�;

� will accrue liquidated damages if we fail to comply with certain obligations as set
forth under ��Registration rights�;

� were issued in denominations of $1,000 and integral multiples of $1,000;

�
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are represented by one or more registered notes in global form, but in certain
limited circumstances may be represented by notes in definitive form (see ��Form,
denomination and registration�Global notes, book-entry form�);

� rank equally in right of payment to any of our existing or future unsecured senior
indebtedness, including trade payables;

� are redeemable by us for cash, at our option, in whole or in part, beginning on
May 10, 2010 (see ��Optional redemption�); and

� are subject to repurchase by us upon a fundamental change (as defined below).

Subject to fulfillment of certain conditions described below, the notes may be
converted into shares of our common stock at an initial conversion rate of 150.5571
shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of notes (equivalent to an initial
conversion price of approximately $6.64 per share of common stock). The conversion
rate is subject to adjustment if certain events occur.

The registered holder of a note will be treated as the owner of it for all purposes,
including, without limitation, for purposes of determining to whom we will send any
notice required to be sent to holders of the notes pursuant to the indentures.

The indentures do not limit the amount or kind of debt that may be incurred by us or
any of our subsidiaries.
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Other than restrictions described under ��Repurchase of the notes at the option of holders
upon a fundamental change� and ��Consolidation, merger and sale of assets� below, the
indentures do not contain any covenants or other provisions which may afford holders
of the notes protection in the event of a highly leveraged transaction involving us. We
may not reissue a note that has matured or been converted, repurchased by us at the
option of a holder, redeemed or otherwise canceled.

Security

We have purchased and pledged to the trustee as security for the exclusive benefit of
the holders of the notes (and not for the benefit of our other creditors), U.S. government
securities in such amount as will be sufficient, upon receipt of scheduled interest and
principal payments of such U.S. government securities, to provide for payment in full
of the first six scheduled interest payments (up to and including the interest payment
due on April 15, 2007), but not additional interest which may be payable (as described
under ��Registration Rights�) on the notes when due. A verification agent verified the
mathematical accuracy of our computation.

The U.S. government securities were pledged by us to the trustee for the exclusive
benefit of the holders of the notes and will be held by the trustee in a pledge account.
Immediately prior to each of the first six interest payment dates, the trustee will release
from the pledge account proceeds sufficient to pay the interest then due on the notes. A
failure to pay interest on the notes when due for any of the first six scheduled interest
payment dates will constitute an event of default under the indentures, with no grace
period.

The pledged U.S. government securities and the pledge account will also secure the
repayment of the principal amount and additional interest, if any, on the notes only to
the extent provided in the following circumstance. If prior to April 15, 2007:

� an event of default under the notes occurs and is continuing; and

� the trustee or the holders of 25% in aggregate principal amount of the notes
accelerate the notes by declaring the principal amount of the notes to be
immediately due and payable (by written consent, at a meeting of noteholders or
otherwise), except for the occurrence of an event of default relating to our
bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization, upon which the notes will be
accelerated automatically;

then the proceeds from the pledged U.S. government securities will be promptly
released for payment to noteholders, subject to the automatic stay provisions of
bankruptcy law, if applicable. Distributions from the pledge account will be applied:
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� first, to any accrued and unpaid interest on the notes; and

� second, to repayment of a portion of the principal amount of the notes and
additional interest, if any, due on the notes.

However, if any event of default is cured prior to the acceleration of the notes by the
trustee or holders of the notes referred to above, the trustee and the holders of the notes
will not be able to accelerate the notes as a result of that event of default.

For example, if the first two interest payments were made when due but the third
interest payment was not made when due and the noteholders promptly exercised their
right to declare the principal amount of the notes to be immediately due and payable,
then, assuming automatic stay provisions of bankruptcy law are inapplicable and the
proceeds of the pledged U.S. government securities are promptly distributed from the
pledge account:

� an amount equal to the interest payment due on the third interest payment would
be distributed from the pledge account as accrued interest; and
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� the balance of the proceeds of the pledge account would be distributed as a
portion of the principal amount of the notes and additional interest, if any, due on
the notes.

In addition, noteholders would have an unsecured claim against us for the remainder of
the principal amount of their notes.

Once we make the first six scheduled interest payments on the notes, or at such earlier
time when all of the notes have been repurchased or converted, all of the remaining
pledged U.S. government securities, if any, will be released to us from the pledge
account.

Payments on the notes; paying agent and registrar

We will pay principal, interest and liquidated damages, if any, on the notes at the office
or agency designated by us in the Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York. We
have initially designated U.S. Bank National Association as our paying agent and
registrar and its agency in New York, New York as a place where notes may be
presented for payment or for registration of transfer. We may, however, change the
paying agent or registrar without prior notice to the holders of the notes, and we may
act as paying agent or registrar.

We will pay principal, interest and liquidated damages, if any, on notes in global form
registered in the name of or held by The Depository Trust Company (�DTC�) or its
nominee in immediately available funds to DTC or its nominee, as the case may be, as
the registered holder of such global note.

Interest

The notes accrue interest at a rate of 3 1/2% per year from the date of issuance. Interest
is payable semi-annually in arrears on April 15 and October 15 of each year, beginning
on October 15, 2004, to record holders at the close of business on the preceding April 1
and October 1, respectively, except:

� interest payable upon redemption will be paid to the person to whom principal is
payable, unless the redemption date is an interest payment date, in which case
interest shall be paid to the record holder on the relevant record date; and

� as set forth in the next sentence.
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If you convert your notes into common stock during the period after any record date but
prior to the next interest payment date:

� we will not be required to pay interest on the interest payment date if the notes
have been called for redemption on a redemption date that occurs during this
period, but accrued and unpaid interest on such notes will be paid on the
redemption date; or

� if otherwise, any note called for redemption that is submitted for conversion
during this period must also be accompanied by an amount equal to the interest
due on the interest payment date on the converted principal amount, unless at the
time of the conversion there is a default in the payment of interest on the notes.
See �Conversion rights.�

Interest is computed on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day
months. We will not be required to make any payment on the notes due on any day
which is not a business day until the next succeeding business day. The payment made
on the next succeeding business day will be treated as though it were paid on the
original due date and no interest will accrue on the payment for the additional period of
time.

Transfer and exchange

You may transfer or exchange notes at the office of the registrar in accordance with the
indentures. The registrar and the trustee may require a holder, among other things, to
furnish appropriate endorsements and transfer documents. No service charge will be
imposed by us, the trustee or the registrar for any registration of
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transfer or exchange of notes, but we may require a holder to pay a sum sufficient to
cover any transfer tax or other similar governmental charge required by law or
permitted by the indentures. We are not required to exchange or register the transfer of

� any note or portion thereof selected for redemption;

� any note or portion thereof surrendered for conversion; or

� any note or portion thereof surrendered for repurchase but not withdrawn in
connection with a repurchase date.

Ranking

The notes are our general unsecured obligations (except to the extent described under
��Security,� above) and rank senior in right of payment to all existing and future debt that
is expressly subordinated in right of payment to the notes. The notes rank equally in
right of payment with all of our existing and future liabilities that are not so
subordinated. Other than as described under ��Security,� above, the notes effectively rank
junior to any of our secured indebtedness to the extent of the assets securing such
indebtedness. In the event of our bankruptcy, liquidation, reorganization or other
winding up, our assets that secure debt will be available to pay obligations on the notes
only after all secured debt has been repaid in full from such assets. We advise you that
there may not be sufficient assets remaining to pay amounts due on any or all the notes
then outstanding.

We are obligated to pay reasonable compensation to the trustee and to indemnify the
trustee against certain losses, liabilities or expenses incurred by the trustee in
connection with its duties relating to the notes. The trustee�s claims for these payments
will generally be senior to those of holders of notes in respect of all funds collected or
held by the trustee.

As of September 25, 2004, we and our subsidiaries had approximately $176 million of
indebtedness outstanding (excluding trade payables and accrued liabilities), of which
$1.1 million is secured.

Optional redemption

No sinking fund is provided for the notes. Prior to May 10, 2010, the notes will not be
redeemable. Beginning May 10, 2010, we may redeem at any time for cash all or part
of the notes, upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days notice before the redemption
date by mail to the trustee, the paying agent and each holder of notes, for a price equal
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to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid
interest and liquidated damages, if any, to but excluding the redemption date.

If we decide to redeem fewer than all of the outstanding notes, the trustee will select the
notes to be redeemed (in principal amounts of $1,000 or integral multiples thereof) by
lot, on a pro rata basis or by another method the trustee considers fair and appropriate.

If the trustee selects a portion of your note for redemption and you convert a portion of
the same note, the converted portion will be deemed to be from the portion selected for
redemption.

In the event of any redemption in part, we will not be required to:

� issue, register the transfer of or exchange any note during a period of 15 days
before the redemption date; or

� register the transfer of or exchange any note so selected for redemption, in whole
or in part, except the unredeemed portion of any note being redeemed in part.
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Conversion rights

General

Subject to satisfaction of the conditions described under the headings ��Conversion upon
redemption,� and ��Conversion rate adjustments,� holders may convert each of their notes
into shares of our common stock at an initial conversion rate of 150.5571 shares of
common stock per $1,000 principal amount of notes (equivalent to an initial conversion
price of approximately $6.64 per share of common stock) prior to the close of business
on April 14, 2011. The conversion rate and the equivalent conversion price in effect at
any given time are referred to as the �applicable conversion rate� and the �applicable
conversion price,� respectively, and will be subject to adjustment as described below. A
holder may convert fewer than all of such holder�s notes so long as the notes converted
are an integral multiple of $1,000 principal amount.

Unless you convert your notes on an interest payment date, you will not receive any
cash payment representing accrued and unpaid interest or liquidated damages, if any,
upon conversion of a note. Instead, upon conversion, we will deliver to you a fixed
number of shares of our common stock and a cash payment to account for any
fractional shares. Any cash payment for fractional shares will be based on the closing
sale price of our common stock on the trading day immediately prior to the conversion
date. Delivery of shares of common stock upon conversion of the notes will be deemed
to satisfy our obligation to pay the principal amount of the notes and accrued and
unpaid interest and liquidated damages, if any. Accrued and unpaid interest and
liquidated damages, if any, will be deemed paid in full rather than canceled,
extinguished or forfeited. We will not adjust the conversion rate to account for accrued
and unpaid interest and liquidated damages, if any. The trustee will initially act as the
conversion agent.

If any notes not called for redemption are converted after a record date for any interest
payment date and prior to the next interest payment date, the notes must be
accompanied by an amount equal to the interest payable on the next interest payment
date on the converted principal amount, unless at the time of conversion there is a
default in the payment of interest on the notes.

If a holder converts notes, we will pay any documentary, stamp or similar issue or
transfer tax due on the issue of shares of our common stock upon conversion, unless the
tax is due because the holder requests the shares to be issued in a name other than the
holder�s name, in which case the holder will pay that tax.

If a holder wishes to exercise its conversion right, the holder must deliver a conversion
notice, together, if the notes are in certificated form, with the certificated security, to
the conversion agent along with appropriate endorsements and transfer documents, if
required, and pay any transfer or similar tax, if required. Holders may obtain copies of
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the required form of the conversion notice from the conversion agent.

If a holder has already delivered a repurchase notice as described under ��Repurchase of
the notes by us at the option of holders upon a fundamental change� with respect to a
note, however, the holder may not surrender that note for conversion until the holder
has withdrawn the repurchase notice in accordance with the indentures.

Conversion upon redemption

You may surrender for conversion any of your notes called by us for redemption at any
time prior to the close of business one business day prior to the redemption date. If you
have already submitted a note for repurchase on a fundamental change repurchase date,
you may not surrender that note for conversion until you have withdrawn your
repurchase election in accordance with the indentures.
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Conversion rate adjustments

The conversion rate will be adjusted as described below, except that we will not make
any adjustments to the conversion rate if holders of the notes participate in any of the
transactions described below.

(1) If we issue shares of our common stock as a dividend or distribution on our
common stock, or if we effect a stock split or stock combination, the conversion rate
will be adjusted based on the following formula:

CR� = CR0   X    OS�

OS0

where,

CR0 = the conversion rate in effect immediately prior to such event

CR� = the conversion rate in effect immediately after such event
OS0 = the number of shares of our common stock outstanding

immediately prior to such event
OS� = the number of shares of our common stock outstanding

immediately after such event

(2) If we issue to all or substantially all holders of our common stock any rights or
warrants entitling them for a period of not more than 60 days to subscribe for or
purchase shares of our common stock, or securities convertible into shares of our
common stock, at a price per share or a conversion price per share less than the sale
price of our common stock on the business day immediately preceding the time of
announcement of such issuance, the conversion rate will be adjusted based on the
following formula (provided that the conversion rate will be readjusted to the extent
that such rights or warrants are not exercised prior to their expiration):

CR� = CR0   X    OS0 + X

OS0 + Y

where,
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CR0 = the conversion rate in effect immediately prior to such
event

CR� = the conversion rate in effect immediately after such event
OS0 = the number of shares of our common stock outstanding

immediately prior to such event
X = the total number of shares of our common stock issuable

pursuant to such rights
Y = the number of shares of our common stock equal to the

aggregate price payable to exercise such rights divided by
the average sale price of our common stock for the ten
consecutive trading days prior to the business day
immediately preceding the record date for the issuance of
such rights

(3) If we distribute shares of our capital stock, evidences of our indebtedness or other
assets or property of ours to all or substantially all holders of our common stock,
excluding:

� dividends, distributions and rights or warrants referred to in clause (1) or (2)
above; and

� dividends or distributions in cash referred to in clause (4) below;

then the conversion rate will be adjusted based on the following formula:

CR� = CR0   X        SP0

SP0 � FMV
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where,

CR0 = the conversion rate in effect immediately prior to such
distribution

CR� = the conversion rate in effect immediately after such
distribution

SP0 = the average sale price per share of our common stock for
the ten consecutive trading days prior to the business day
immediately preceding the record date for such
distribution

FMV = the fair market value (as determined by our board of
directors) of the shares of capital stock, evidences of
indebtedness, assets or property distributed with respect to
each outstanding share of our common stock on the record
date for such distribution

(4) If we make cash distributions to all or substantially all holders of our common
stock, the conversion rate will be adjusted based on the following formula:

CR� = CR0   X        SP0

SP0 � C

where,

CR0 = the conversion rate in effect immediately prior to the record
date for such distribution

CR� = the conversion rate in effect immediately after the record
date for such distribution

SP0 = the average sale price of our common stock for the ten
consecutive trading days prior to the business day
immediately preceding the record date of such distribution

C = the amount in cash per share we distribute to holders of our
common stock

(5) If we or any of our subsidiaries purchase shares of our common stock pursuant to a
tender offer, the conversion rate will be increased based on the following formula:

CR� = CR0   X   AC + (SP� X OS�)

OS0 X SP�
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CR0 = the conversion rate in effect on the date such tender offer
expires

CR� = the conversion rate in effect on the day next succeeding the
date such tender offer expires

AC = the aggregate value of all cash and any other consideration
(as determined by our board of directors) paid for shares
purchased in such tender offer

OS0 = the number of shares of our common stock outstanding
immediately prior to the date such tender offer expires

OS� = the number of shares of our common stock outstanding
immediately after the date such tender offer expires

SP� = the average sale price of our common stock for the ten days
commencing on the trading day next succeeding the date
such tender offer expires

If however, the application of the foregoing formula would result in a decrease in the
conversion rate, no adjustment to the conversion rate will be made.
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To the extent that we adopt any future rights plan, upon conversion of the notes into our
common stock you will receive, in addition to the common stock, the rights under the
future Stockholder rights plan whether or not the rights have separated from the
common stock at the time of conversion and no adjustment to the conversion rate shall
be made in accordance with clause (3) above.

Except as stated herein, we will not adjust the conversion rate for the issuance of our
common stock or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for our common stock
or the right to purchase our common stock or such convertible or exchangeable
securities.

In the event of:

� any reclassification of our common stock, or

� a consolidation, merger or combination involving us, or

� a sale or conveyance to another person of our property and assets as an entirety or
substantially as an entirety,

in which holders of our outstanding common stock would be entitled to receive stock,
other securities, other property, assets or cash for their common stock, holders of notes
will generally be entitled thereafter to convert their notes into the same type of
consideration received by common stock holders immediately prior to one of these
types of events.

We are permitted to increase the conversion rate of the notes by any amount for a
period of at least 20 days if our board of directors determines that such increase would
be in our best interest. We are required to give at least 15 days prior notice of any
increase in the conversion rate. We may also (but are not required to) increase the
conversion rate to avoid or diminish income tax to holders of our common stock or
rights to purchase common stock in connection with a dividend or distribution of stock
(or rights to acquire stock) or similar event.

Holders of the notes may, in some circumstances, be deemed to have received a
distribution or dividend subject to United States federal income tax as a result of an
adjustment or the nonoccurrence of an adjustment to the conversion rate. See �Certain
United States federal income tax considerations�Consequences to U.S.
Holders�Constructive dividends.�
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We will not be required to make an adjustment in the conversion rate unless the
adjustment would require a change of at least 1% in the conversion rate. However, we
will carry forward any adjustments that are less than 1% of the conversion rate.

Except as described above in this section, we will not adjust the conversion rate for any
issuance of our common stock or convertible or exchangeable securities or rights to
purchase our common stock or convertible or exchangeable securities.

Repurchase of the notes at the option of holders upon a fundamental change

If a fundamental change (as defined below in this section) occurs at any time, you will
have the right, at your option, to require us to repurchase all or any portion of your
notes that is equal to $1,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000 on a repurchase date that
is no earlier than 25 days and no later than 35 days after the date of our notice of the
fundamental change.

The price we are required to pay is equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes
to be repurchased plus accrued and unpaid interest and liquidated damages, if any, to
but excluding the fundamental change repurchase date. If the repurchase date is an
interest payment date, we will pay interest on the interest payment
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date to the record holder on the relevant record date. Otherwise, we will pay accrued
and unpaid interest to the same holder that receives the principal amount to be
repurchased.

A �fundamental change� will be deemed to have occurred upon a change of control event
or a termination of trading (as defined below).

A �change of control event� is any transaction or event (whether by means of an
exchange offer, liquidation, tender offer, consolidation, merger, combination,
reclassification, recapitalization, sale of all or substantially all of our consolidated
assets or otherwise) in connection with which all or substantially all of our common
stock is exchanged for, converted into, acquired for or constitutes solely the right to
receive, consideration which is not all or substantially all common stock or American
Depositary Shares that:

� is listed on, or immediately after the transaction or event will be listed on, a
United States national securities exchange, or

� is approved, or immediately after the transaction or event will be approved, for
quotation on Nasdaq or any similar United States system of automated
dissemination of quotations of securities prices.

A �termination of trading� will be deemed to have occurred if our common stock or other
common stock into which the notes are convertible is neither listed for trading on a
United States national securities exchange nor approved for listing on Nasdaq or any
similar United States system of automated dissemination of quotations of securities
prices, and no American Depositary Shares or similar instruments for such common
stock are so listed or approved for listing in the United States.

However, notwithstanding the foregoing, a holder will not have the right to require us
to repurchase its notes if the sale price per share of our common stock for any five
trading days within the period of 10 consecutive trading days ending immediately after
the later of the fundamental change or the public announcement of the fundamental
change equals or exceeds 110% of the conversion price of the notes in effect on each of
those five trading days.

If a fundamental change occurs and all of the consideration for the common stock in the
transaction or transactions constituting the fundamental change consists of cash, which
we will refer to as a �cash buy-out,� we will pay a make-whole premium to the holders of
the notes in addition to the fundamental change repurchase price of the notes on the
date of repurchase.
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The make-whole premium per note will equal (a) the average of the closing trading
price of a note for the five trading days immediately prior to our public announcement
of the cash buy-out, less (b) the greater of (i) $1,000 or (ii) the product of (x) average
closing prices of our common stock for the five trading days immediately prior to our
public announcement of the cash buy-out and (y) the applicable conversion rate; and
will be payable in cash or common stock at our option. The make-whole premium, if
any, will not be less than zero.

The �closing trading price,� for purposes of calculating the make-whole premium, on any
date of determination means the average of the secondary market bid quotations per
note obtained by the trustee for $2,000,000 principal amount of the notes at
approximately 3:30 p.m. New York City time, on such determination date from two
independent nationally recognized securities dealers we select, which may include one
or more of the initial purchasers, provided that if at least two such bids cannot
reasonably be obtained by the trustee, but one such bid can reasonably be obtained by
the trustee, this one bid will be used. If the trustee cannot reasonably obtain at least one
bid for $2,000,000 principal amount of notes from a nationally recognized securities
dealer or in our reasonable judgment, the bid quotations are not indicative of the
secondary market value of the notes, then the closing trading price of the notes will be
deemed to be less than 98% of the applicable conversion rate of the notes multiplied by
the closing price of our common stock on such determination date.
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On or before the 15th day after we know or reasonably should know a fundamental
change has occurred, we will provide to all holders of the notes and the trustee and
paying agent a notice of the occurrence of the fundamental change and of the resulting
repurchase right. Such notice shall state, among other things:

� the fundamental change repurchase date; and

� the procedures that holders must follow to require us to repurchase their notes.

Simultaneously with providing such notice, we will publish a notice containing this
information in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of New York or publish
the information on our website or through such other public medium as we may use at
that time.

If you elect to exercise your right to cause us to repurchase all or any portion of your
notes, you must deliver to us or our designated agent, on or before the business day
preceding the fundamental change repurchase date, subject to extension to comply with
applicable law, the notes to be repurchased, duly endorsed for transfer, together with a
written repurchase notice and the form entitled �Form of Fundamental Change
Repurchase Notice� on the reverse side of the notes duly completed, to the paying agent.
Your repurchase notice must state:

� if certificated, the certificate numbers of your notes to be delivered for
repurchase, or if not certificated, your notice must comply with appropriate DTC
procedures;

� the portion of the principal amount of notes to be repurchased, which must be
$1,000 or an integral multiple thereof; and

� that the notes are to be purchased by us pursuant to the applicable provisions of
the notes and the indentures.

You may withdraw any repurchase notice (in whole or in part) by a written notice of
withdrawal delivered to us or our agent prior to the close of business on the business
day prior to the fundamental change repurchase date. The notice of withdrawal shall
state:

� the principal amount of the withdrawn notes;

� if certificated notes have been issued, the certificate numbers of the withdrawn
notes, or if not certificated, your notice must comply with appropriate DTC
procedures; and
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� the principal amount, if any, which remains subject to the repurchase notice.

If a fundamental change results from a change of control event, as described below,
instead of paying the repurchase price in cash we may elect to pay all or a portion of the
repurchase price in shares of our common stock, or, in the case of a merger in which we
are not the surviving corporation, common stock or American Depositary Shares of the
surviving corporation or its direct or indirect parent corporation or a combination of the
applicable securities and cash, at our option. The number of shares of the applicable
common stock or securities a holder will receive will equal the relevant amount of the
repurchase price divided by 97% of the average sale prices of the applicable common
stock or securities for the five trading days immediately preceding the second business
day immediately preceding the fundamental change repurchase date. However, we may
not pay any portion of the repurchase price in the applicable common stock or
securities or a combination of the applicable common stock or securities and cash,
unless we satisfy certain conditions prior to the repurchase date as provided in the
indentures, including:

� registration of the shares of the applicable common stock or securities to be
issued upon repurchase under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, if
required;

� qualification of the shares of the applicable common stock or securities to be
issued upon repurchase under applicable state securities laws, if necessary, or the
availability of an exemption therefrom; and
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� listing of the applicable common stock or securities on a U.S. national securities
exchange or quotation thereof on an inter-dealer quotation system of any
registered U.S. national securities association.

If the paying agent holds money and/or applicable stock sufficient to pay the
fundamental change repurchase price of the notes on the fundamental change
repurchase date, then:

� the notes will cease to be outstanding and liquidated damages, if any, will cease
to accrue (whether or not book-entry transfer of the notes is made or whether or
not the note is delivered to the paying agent); and

� all other rights of the holder will terminate (other than the right to
receive the fundamental change repurchase price and previously accrued
and unpaid liquidated damages, if any, upon delivery or transfer of the
notes).

We will comply with any applicable provisions of Rule 13e-4 and any other tender
offer rules under the Exchange Act in the event of a fundamental change.

The repurchase rights of the holders could discourage a potential acquirer of us. The
fundamental change repurchase feature, however, is not the result of management�s
knowledge of any specific effort to obtain control of us by any means or part of a plan
by management to adopt a series of anti-takeover provisions.

The term fundamental change is limited to specified events and may not include other
events that might adversely affect our financial condition. In addition, the requirement
that we offer to purchase the notes upon a fundamental change may not protect holders
in the event of a highly leveraged transaction, reorganization, merger or similar
transaction involving us.

No notes may be repurchased at the option of holders upon a fundamental change if
there has occurred and is continuing an event of default other than an event of default
that is cured by the payment of the fundamental change repurchase price of the notes.

The definition of fundamental change includes a phrase relating to the conveyance,
transfer, sale or lease of substantially all of our properties and assets. There is no
precise, established definition of the phrase �substantially all� under applicable law.
Accordingly, the ability of a holder of the notes to require us to repurchase its notes as a
result of the conveyance, transfer, sale, lease or other disposition of less than all of our
properties and assets may be uncertain.
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If a fundamental change were to occur, we may not have enough funds to pay the
fundamental change repurchase price in cash. See �Risk factors� under the caption �We
may be unable to repay or repurchase the notes or our other indebtedness.� If we fail to
repurchase the notes when required following a fundamental change, we will be in
default under the indentures. In addition, we have, and may in the future incur, other
indebtedness with similar change in control provisions permitting our holders to
accelerate or to require us to repurchase our indebtedness upon the occurrence of
similar events or on some specific dates.

Consolidation, merger and sale of assets

The indentures provide that we may not consolidate with or merge with or into, or
convey, transfer or lease all or substantially all of our properties and assets to, another
person, unless (i) the resulting, surviving or transferee person other than us is a person
either (a) organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, any
State thereof or the District of Columbia, or (b) organized under the laws of a
jurisdiction outside the United States and has common stock traded on a national
securities exchange in the United States and a worldwide total market capitalization of
its equity securities before giving effect to the consolidation or merger of at least U.S.
$2 billion, and in either case such entity other than us expressly assumes by
supplemental indenture all of our obligations under the notes and the indentures; and
(ii) immediately after giving effect to
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such transaction, no default has occurred and is continuing under the indentures. Upon
any such consolidation, merger or transfer, the resulting, surviving or transferee person
shall succeed to, and may exercise every right and power of, Oscient Pharmaceuticals
under the indentures.

Although these types of transactions are permitted under the indentures, certain of the
foregoing transactions could constitute a fundamental change (as defined above)
permitting each holder to require us to repurchase the notes of such holder as described
above.

Events of default

Each of the following is an event of default:

� default in the payment of interest (other than the first six scheduled
interest payments up to and including the interest payment due on April
15, 2007) or liquidated damages, if any, on any note when due and
payable and the default continues for a period of 30 days;

� default in the payment of principal of any note when due and payable at its
maturity, upon redemption, upon repurchase (including upon a fundamental
change) or otherwise or default in the payment of the first six scheduled interest
payments up to and including the interest payment due on April 15, 2007;

� failure by us to comply with any of our other agreements contained in the notes
or indentures for 60 days after written notice of such non-compliance has been
received from the trustee or the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the
notes then outstanding;

� default for 10 days in the performance of our conversion obligation upon exercise
of a holder�s conversion rights;

� default by us or our subsidiaries in the payment of the principal or interest on any
loan agreement or other instrument under which there may be outstanding, or by
which there may be evidenced any, debt for money borrowed in excess of $7.5
million in the aggregate of ours and such subsidiaries (other than indebtedness for
borrowed money secured only by the real property to which the indebtedness
relates and which is non-recourse to us or to such material subsidiaries), whether
such debt now exists or shall hereafter be created, resulting in such debt
becoming or being declared due and payable prior to its stated maturity, and such
acceleration shall not have been rescinded or annulled within 30 days after
written notice has been received by us or such subsidiary from the trustee or by
the trustee, us and such subsidiary by the holders of at least 25% in principal
amount of the notes then outstanding;
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� our failure to give you notice of your right to require us to repurchase your notes
upon a fundamental change;

� certain events involving our bankruptcy, insolvency, or reorganization (the
�bankruptcy provisions�); or

� the pledge agreement ceases to be in full force and effect, or enforceable, prior to
its expiration in accordance with its terms.

If an event of default occurs and is continuing, the trustee by notice to us may, or the
holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the outstanding notes by notice to us and
the trustee may request, and the trustee upon such request shall, declare 100% of the
principal of and accrued and unpaid interest and liquidated damages, if any, on all the
notes to be due and payable. Upon such a declaration, such principal and accrued and
unpaid interest and liquidated damages, if any, will be due and payable immediately.
Notwithstanding the previous sentence, in the case of an event of default arising under
the bankruptcy provisions, all outstanding notes will become due and payable without
further action or notice. The holders of a majority in principal amount of the
outstanding notes may waive all past defaults (except with respect to nonpayment of
principal, interest or liquidated damages) and rescind any such acceleration with respect
to the notes and its consequences if (1) rescission would not conflict with any judgment
or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction and (2) all existing events of default,
other than the nonpayment of the principal of and interest and liquidated damages on
the notes that have become due solely by such declaration of acceleration, have been
cured or waived.
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Subject to the provisions of the indentures relating to the duties of the trustee, if an
event of default occurs and is continuing, the trustee will be under no obligation to
exercise any of the rights or powers under the indentures at the request or direction of
any of the holders unless such holders have offered to the trustee reasonable indemnity
or security against any loss, liability or expense. Except to enforce the right to receive
payment of principal, interest or liquidated damages, if any, when due, no holder may
pursue any remedy with respect to the indentures or the notes unless:

� such holder has previously given the trustee notice that an event of default is
continuing;

� holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the outstanding notes have
requested the trustee to pursue the remedy;

� such holders have offered the trustee reasonable security or indemnity against
any loss, liability or expense;

� the trustee has not complied with such request within 60 days after the receipt of
the request and the offer of security or indemnity; and

� the holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding notes have not
given the trustee a direction that, in the opinion of the trustee, is inconsistent with
such request within such 60-day period.

Subject to certain restrictions, the holders of a majority in principal amount of the
outstanding notes are given the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting
any proceeding for any remedy available to the trustee or of exercising any trust or
power conferred on the trustee. The indentures provide that if an event of default has
occurred and is continuing, the trustee will be required in the exercise of its powers to
use the degree of care that a prudent person would use in the conduct of its own affairs.
The trustee, however, may refuse to follow any direction that conflicts with law or the
indentures or that the trustee determines is unduly prejudicial to the rights of any other
holder or that would involve the trustee in personal liability. Prior to taking any action
under the indentures, the trustee will be entitled to indemnification satisfactory to it in
its sole discretion against all losses and expenses caused by taking or not taking such
action.

The indentures provide that if a default occurs and is continuing and is known to the
trustee, the trustee must mail to each holder notice of the default within 60 days after it
occurs. Except in the case of a default in the payment of principal of or interest or
liquidated damages, if any, on any note, the trustee may withhold notice if and so long
as a committee of trust officers of the trustee in good faith determines that withholding
notice is in the interests of the holders. In addition, we are required to deliver to the
trustee an annual certificate indicating whether the signers thereof know of any default
that occurred during the previous year. We are also required to deliver to the trustee,
within 30 days after the occurrence thereof, written notice of any events which would
constitute certain defaults, their status and what action we are taking or propose to take
in respect thereof.
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Modification and amendment

Subject to certain exceptions, the indentures or the notes may be amended with the
consent of the holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the notes then
outstanding (including, without limitation, consents obtained in connection with a
purchase of, or tender offer or exchange offer for, notes) and, subject to certain
exceptions, any past default or compliance with any provisions may be waived with the
consent of the holders of a majority in principal amount of the notes then outstanding
(including, without limitation, consents obtained in connection with a purchase of, or
tender offer or exchange offer for, notes).

Without the consent of each holder of an outstanding note affected, no amendment
may, among other things:

� reduce the rate of or extend the stated time for payment of interest on any note;

� reduce the principal amount of or change the maturity of the principal of any
note;
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� make any change that impairs or adversely affects the conversion rights of any
note;

� reduce the redemption price or fundamental change repurchase price of any note
or amend or modify in any manner adverse to the holders of notes our obligation
to make such payments, whether through an amendment or waiver of provisions
in the covenants, definitions or otherwise;

� modify the provisions with respect to the repurchase right of holders upon a
fundamental change in a manner adverse to holders;

� modify the provisions of the indentures or the pledge agreement relating to the
pledge of securities as contemplated under ��Security� above, in a manner that
adversely affects the interests of the holders of the notes in any material respect;

� make any principal or interest on the note payable in money other than that stated
in the note or other than in accordance with the provisions of the indentures;

� impair the right of any holder to receive payment of principal of or interest or
liquidated damages, if any, on such holder�s notes on or after the due dates
therefor or impair the right of any holder to institute suit for the enforcement of
any payment on or with respect to such holder�s notes;

� reduce the quorum or voting requirements under the indentures;

� change the ranking of the notes in a manner adverse to the holders of the notes;

� make any change in the amendment provisions which require each holder�s
consent or in the waiver provisions; or

� reduce the percentage of notes required for consent to any modification of the
indentures.

We and the trustee may modify or amend the indentures and the notes without the
consent of any holder in order to, among other things:

� provide for our successor pursuant to a consolidation, merger or sale of assets;

� add to our covenants for the benefit of the holders of the notes or to surrender any
right or power conferred upon us by the indentures;

� provide for a successor trustee with respect to the notes;
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� cure any ambiguity or correct or supplement any provision in the indentures
which may be defective or inconsistent with any other provision;

� add any additional events of default with respect to the notes;

� secure the notes;

� increase the conversion rate, provided that the increase is in accordance with the
terms of the indentures or will not adversely affect the interests of the holders of
the notes;

� supplement any of the provisions of the indentures to such extent as shall be
necessary to permit or facilitate the discharge of the notes, provided that such
change or modification does not adversely affect the interests of the holders of
the notes;

� make any changes or modifications necessary in connection with the registration
of the notes under the Securities Act as contemplated in the registration rights
agreement, provided that such change or modification does not adversely affect
the interests of the holders of the notes; or

� add or modify any other provisions with respect to matters or questions arising
under the indentures which we and the trustee may deem necessary and desirable
and which will not adversely affect the interests of the holders of notes.

Further issues

We may from time to time, without notice to or the consent of the registered holders of
the notes, create and issue additional debt securities having the same terms as and
ranking equally and ratably with the notes in all respects, so that such additional debt
securities shall be consolidated and form a single series with, and shall have the same
terms as to status, redemption or otherwise as, the notes.
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Form, denomination and registration

The notes were issued:

� in fully registered form; and

� in denominations of $1,000 principal amount and integral multiples of $1,000.

Global notes, book-entry form

Except as provided below, notes are evidenced by one or more global notes.

We have deposited the global notes with DTC and registered the notes in the name of
Cede & Co. as DTC�s nominee. Except as set forth below, a note may be transferred, in
whole or in part, only to another nominee of DTC or to a successor of DTC or its
nominee.

Qualified Institutional Buyers, or QIBs, may hold their interests in a note directly
through DTC if such holder is a participant in DTC, or indirectly through organizations
that are participants in DTC (called �participants�). Transfers between participants will be
effected in the ordinary way in accordance with DTC rules and will be settled in
clearing house funds. The laws of some states require that certain persons take physical
delivery of securities in definitive form. As a result, the ability to transfer beneficial
interests in the note to such persons may be limited.

QIBs who are not participants may beneficially own interests in a note held by DTC
only through participants, or certain banks, brokers, dealers, trust companies and other
parties that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a participant, either
directly or indirectly (called �indirect participants�).

So long as Cede & Co., as the nominee of DTC, is the registered owner of a note, Cede
& Co. for all purposes will be considered the sole holder of such note. Except as
provided below, owners of beneficial interests in a note will:

� not be entitled to have certificates registered in their names;

Edgar Filing: GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 53



� not receive physical delivery of certificates in definitive registered form; and

� not be considered holders of the note.

We will pay liquidated damages, if any, and the redemption or repurchase price of a
note to Cede & Co., as the registered owner of the note, by wire transfer of immediately
available funds on the dates such payments are due. Neither we, the trustee nor any
paying agent will be responsible or liable:

� for the records relating to, or payments made on account of, beneficial ownership
interests in a note; or

� for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to the beneficial
ownership interests.

We have been informed that DTC�s practice is to credit participants� accounts on a
payment date with payments in amounts proportionate to their respective beneficial
interests in the principal amount represented by a global note as shown in the records of
DTC, unless DTC has reason to believe that it will not receive payment on that
payment date. Payments by participants to owners of beneficial interests in the
principal amount represented by a global note held through participants will be the
responsibility of the participants, as is now the case with securities held for the
accounts of customers registered in �street name.�

If you elect to exercise your right to cause us to repurchase all or any portion of your
notes, you must deliver to us or our designated agent, on or before the business day
preceding the fundamental change repurchase date, subject to extension to comply with
applicable law, the notes to be repurchased, duly endorsed for transfer,
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together with a written repurchase notice and the form entitled �Form of Fundamental
Change Repurchase Notice� on the reverse side of the notes duly completed, to the
paying agent. Your repurchase notice must state:

� if certificated, the certificate numbers of your notes to be delivered for
repurchase, or if not certificated, your notice must comply with appropriate DTC
procedures;

� the portion of the principal amount of notes to be repurchased, which must be
$1,000 or an integral multiple thereof; and

� that the notes are to be purchased by us pursuant to the applicable provisions of
the notes and the indentures.

Because DTC can only act on behalf of participants, who in turn act on behalf of
indirect participants, the ability of a person having a beneficial interest in the principal
amount represented by the global note to pledge such interest to persons or entities that
do not participate in the DTC system, or otherwise take actions in respect of such
interest, may be affected by the lack of a physical certificate evidencing its interest.

Neither we, the trustee, registrar, paying agent nor conversion agent will have any
responsibility for the performance by DTC or its participants or indirect participants of
their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.
DTC has advised us that it will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of
notes, including the presentation of notes for exchange, only at the direction of one or
more participants to whose account with DTC interests in the note are credited, and
only in respect of the principal amount of the notes represented by the note as to which
the participant or participants has or have given such direction.

DTC has advised us that it is:

� a limited purpose trust company organized under the laws of the State of New
York, and a member of the Federal Reserve System;

� a �clearing corporation� within the meaning of the Uniform Commercial Code; and

� a �clearing agency� registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the
Exchange Act.

DTC was created to hold securities for its participants and to facilitate the clearance and
settlement of securities transactions between participants through electronic book-entry
changes to the accounts of its participants. Participants include securities brokers,

Edgar Filing: GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 55



dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations and other organizations.
Some of the participants or their representatives, together with other entities, own DTC.
Indirect access to the DTC system is available to others such as banks, brokers, dealers
and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a
participant, either directly or indirectly.

DTC has agreed to the foregoing procedures to facilitate transfers of interests in a note
among participants. However, DTC is under no obligation to perform or continue to
perform these procedures, and may discontinue these procedures at any time. If DTC is
at any time unwilling or unable to continue as depositary and a successor depositary is
not appointed by us within 90 days, we will issue notes in certificated form in exchange
for notes.

Trustee

U.S. Bank National Association is the initial trustee, security registrar, paying agent
and conversion agent.

Governing law

The indentures provide that they and the notes will be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, the laws of the State of New York.
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Description of capital stock

Our authorized capital stock consists of 175,000,000 shares of common stock, par value
$.10 per share, and 625,000 shares designated as series B restricted stock, par value
$.10 per share.

The following descriptions are summaries of the material terms of our certificate of
incorporation and bylaws. Reference is made to the more detailed provisions of, and the
descriptions are qualified in their entirety by reference to, our certificate of
incorporation and bylaws, copies of which are filed with the SEC.

Common stock

As of November 5, 2004, Oscient Pharmaceuticals had 75,193,882 shares of its
common stock outstanding. There are no shares of series B restricted stock issued or
outstanding.

Oscient Pharmaceuticals Common Stock

Voting. The holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all
matters to be voted upon by the shareholders. Holders of our common stock are not
authorized by our certificate of incorporation to cumulate votes for the election of
directors. Directors are elected by a plurality of the votes entitled to vote and present in
person or represented by proxy at the meeting.

Dividends. We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock and do not expect
to pay dividends in the foreseeable future. Any decision to pay cash dividends in the
future will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon our
financial condition, operating results, capital requirements and such other factors as our
board of directors deems relevant. Holders of common stock would share ratably in any
dividends that may be declared by the Oscient Pharmaceuticals board of directors.

Liquidation, Dissolution and Winding-up. In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or
winding up, the holders of common stock are to receive for each share of Genome
common stock held by them, prior to the holders of series B restricted stock, the greater
of (a) $5.00 and (b) the amount equal to 10 times the amount available to holders of
Series B restricted stock. If the assets available for distribution are insufficient to permit
the full payment, then the entire amount available for distribution to the holders of
common stock will be distributed pro rata among them.
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Preemptive Rights, Conversion and Redemption. There are no preemptive or other
subscription rights, conversion rights, or redemption or sinking fund provisions with
respect to shares of Oscient Pharmaceuticals common stock.

Oscient Pharmaceuticals Series B Restricted Stock

Oscient Pharmaceuticals� Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended, provide that
the holders of Oscient Pharmaceuticals series B restricted stock are not entitled to vote,
except as otherwise required by law or receive dividends. No shares of Oscient
Pharmaceuticals series B restricted stock are outstanding and Oscient Pharmaceuticals
has no current intention to issue any shares of series B restricted stock.

Advance notice of proposals and nominations

Our bylaws establish advance notice procedures for stockholder proposals and
nominations of candidates for election as directors.
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No Limits on written consents

Our certificate of incorporation provides that any action required or permitted to be
taken by our stockholders may be effected without a meeting on unanimous written
consent of the stockholders.

Limits on special meetings

Our bylaws provide that special meetings of stockholders may be called at the request
of the board of directors or our president.

Transfer agent and registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for Oscient Pharmaceuticals common stock is
EquiServe Trust Company N.A.

Nasdaq listing

Our common stock is listed on Nasdaq under the symbol �OSCI.�
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Certain United States federal income tax considerations

In general

The following is a summary of certain US federal income tax consequences (and, in the
case of non-US holders, estate tax consequences) to you of the ownership and
disposition of the notes and common stock received upon conversion of the notes. It:

� is based on the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the �Code�),
administrative pronouncements, judicial decisions and final, temporary and
proposed US Treasury Department regulations all of which are subject to change
(possibly with retroactive effect) or to different interpretations;

� does not discuss the tax consequences to you if you do not hold the notes and any
common stock received upon conversion of the notes as capital assets within the
meaning of Section 1221 of the Code (that is, for investment purposes);

� does not discuss all of the tax consequences that may be relevant to you in light
of your particular circumstances (such as the application of the alternative
minimum tax) or that may be relevant to you because you are subject to special
rules, such as rules applicable to financial institutions, tax-exempt entities,
holders whose �functional currency� is not the US dollar, insurance companies,
dealers in securities or foreign currencies, persons holding the notes as part of a
hedge, straddle, �constructive sale,� �conversion� or other integrated transaction, or
former US citizens or long-term residents subject to taxation as expatriates under
Section 877 of the Code;

� does not discuss the effect of any state, local or foreign laws; and

� does not discuss tax consequences to an owner of notes held through a
partnership or other pass-through entity.

Please consult your own tax advisor regarding the application of US federal
income tax laws to your particular situation and the consequences of federal estate
and gift tax laws, state, local and foreign laws and tax treaties.

As used in this section, a US holder of a note means a beneficial owner of a note that is,
for US federal income tax purposes, a citizen or resident of the United States, a
corporation (or other entity taxable as a corporation) created or organized in or under
the laws of the United States, an estate the income of which is subject to US federal
income taxation regardless of its source, or a trust if (1) the trust is subject to the
primary supervision of a court within the United States and one or more US persons
have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (2) a valid election
is in place to treat the trust as a US person. As used in this section, a non-US holder
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means a beneficial owner of a note that is not a US holder.
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Tax consequences to US holders

This section applies to you if you are a US holder.

Payments of interest

In general, you must report interest on the notes in accordance with your accounting
method. If you are a cash method taxpayer, which is the case for most individuals, you
must report interest on the notes in your income when you receive it. If you are an
accrual method taxpayer, you must report interest on the notes in your income as it
accrues.

Under the terms of the notes, if you require us to repurchase your notes on a
fundamental change, we may be obligated to pay you amounts in excess of stated
interest or principal. Although the matter is not free from doubt, we intend to take the
position that the payment of these additional amounts is a �remote� or �incidental�
contingency and that these additional amounts should be taxable as ordinary interest
income at the time they are received or accrued in accordance with the holder�s regular
accounting method. It is possible, however, that the Internal Revenue Service (the �IRS�)
may take a different position, in which case the timing and amount of income
inclusions by a holder may be affected.

Sale, exchange, redemption or repurchase of the notes and sale or exchange of
common stock

Subject to the discussion below in �Market discount and bond premium,� on the sale,
exchange, redemption or repurchase of a note or sale or exchange of common stock
received on conversion of a note:

� You will have taxable gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount
received by you (in the case of notes, other than amounts representing accrued
and unpaid interest) and your adjusted tax basis in the note or common stock.
Your tax basis is, in the case of the note, the cost of the note to you (decreased by
any principal payments you receive with respect to the note) and, in the case of
common stock, the basis as described below under �Conversion.�

� Your gain or loss will generally be a capital gain or loss and will be a long-term
capital gain or loss if you held the note or, in the case of a sale of common stock
received on conversion, the combination of the note and the common stock, for
more than one year. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitation.
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� If you sell the note between interest payment dates, a portion of the amount you
receive will reflect interest that has accrued on the note but has not yet been paid
by the sale date. That amount is treated as interest, taxable as ordinary income to
the extent you did not previously accrue it as income, and not as sale proceeds.

� If, upon a fundamental change, you require us to purchase some or all of your
notes and we are able to elect, and do elect to pay the purchase price in shares of
our common stock or in a combination of cash and shares of our common stock,
it is likely that the purchase will be treated as a recapitalization for US federal
income tax purposes. Assuming the purchase is treated as a recapitalization: if we
pay the purchase price solely with shares of our common stock, the exchange of
the notes for common stock will be treated in the same manner as a conversion; if
we elect to pay the purchase price with a combination of cash and shares of our
common stock, in general you will recognize gain to the extent that the cash
(excluding cash received in exchange for a fractional share) and the fair market
value of the common stock exceed your adjusted tax basis in the notes that we
purchase (excluding basis attributable to a fractional share), but in no event will
the amount of gain that you recognize exceed the amount of cash that you receive
as purchase price. In addition, you will recognize gain or loss with respect to cash
received in lieu of a fractional share; any cash that you receive as payment for
accrued interest will be taxable to you as interest (to the extent that you did not
previously accrue it as income); and you will not be able to recognize any taxable
loss.
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� If, upon a fundamental change you require us to purchase some or all of your
notes and we elect to pay the purchase price in shares of our common stock or in
a combination of cash and shares of our common stock, and if the purchase is not
treated as a recapitalization (or otherwise as a nontaxable transaction), then the
purchase will be fully taxable and you will recognize taxable gain or loss as
described above, with your amount realized equal to the cash (other than cash for
accrued and unpaid interest, which will be taxable as interest) plus the fair market
value of the common stock that you receive.

Market discount and bond premium

Under the market discount and bond premium provisions of the Code, generally:

� If you have purchased a note (1) at our initial offering of the notes, for an amount
less than its issue price or (2) subsequent to our initial offering of the notes, for
an amount less than its stated redemption price at maturity, the difference will be
treated as market discount. You will be required, subject to a de minimis
exception, to treat any gain on the sale, exchange (other than by a conversion of
the note) or retirement of the note as ordinary income to the extent of the market
discount that has not previously been included in your income and that has
accrued on such note at the time of such sale, exchange or retirement. In addition,
gain on the sale of common stock received on conversion of a note will be treated
as ordinary income to the extent of any market discount carried over from the
converted note.

� Unless you elect to accrue under a constant yield method, any market discount
will be considered to accrue ratably during the period from the date of acquisition
of the debt security to the maturity date.

� If a note has market discount, you may be required to defer the deduction of all or
a portion of the interest expense on any indebtedness incurred or continued in
order to purchase or carry the note until (1) the note�s maturity, (2) the note�s
earlier disposition in a taxable transaction or (3) if you make an appropriate
election, a subsequent taxable year in which you realize sufficient interest income
with respect to the note.

� You may elect to include market discount in income currently as it accrues, on
either a ratable or constant yield method, in which case the rule described above
regarding deferral of interest deductions will not apply. This election to include
market discount in income currently, once made, applies to all market discount
obligations acquired by you during the taxable year of the election and thereafter,
and may not be revoked without the consent of the IRS.

� If you have purchased a note for an amount that is greater than the sum of all
amounts payable on the note after the purchase date, other than payments of
qualified stated interest, you generally may elect to amortize that premium from
the purchase date to the maturity date under a constant yield method.
Amortizable premium can generally only offset interest income on such note and
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may generally not be deducted against other income. Your basis in a note will be
reduced by any premium amortization deductions. An election to amortize
premium on a constant yield method, once made, generally applies to all debt
obligations held or subsequently acquired by you during the taxable year of the
election and thereafter, and may not be revoked without the consent of the IRS.

The rules regarding market discount and bond premium are complex and the rules
described above may not apply in all cases. Accordingly, you should consult your own
tax adviser regarding their application.

Conversion

You generally will not recognize any income, gain or loss upon conversion of a note
into common stock except with respect to cash received in lieu of a fractional share of
common stock, and to the extent that the common stock issued upon conversion is
treated as attributable to accrued interest on the debt security (which will be treated as
interest).

Your adjusted basis in the common stock received on conversion of a note will be the
same as your adjusted basis in the note at the time of the conversion, reduced by any
basis allocable to a fractional share. The holding period for the common stock will
include the holding period of the note converted.
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Your adjusted basis in shares of common stock attributable to accrued interest generally
will equal the amount of accrued interest included in income, and the holding period
with respect to such stock will begin no later than the day following the date of
conversion.

Cash received in lieu of a fractional share of common stock will be treated as a
payment in exchange for a fractional share of common stock and generally will result in
capital gain or loss (measured by the difference between the cash received for the
fractional share and your adjusted basis allocable to the fractional share).

The terms of the notes allow for changes in the conversion price of the notes in certain
circumstances. A change in conversion price may, in some cases, result in a
constructive stock dividend taxable to you, although you would not receive any cash or
other property. A taxable constructive stock dividend would result, for example, if the
conversion price is adjusted to compensate you for distributions of cash or property to
our stockholders. (See �Dividends on common stock� below.)

Dividends on common stock

If, after you convert a note into common stock, we make a distribution in respect of that
stock, the distribution will be treated as a dividend, taxable to you as ordinary income,
to the extent it is paid from our current or accumulated earnings and profits. Certain
holders (including US individuals) may qualify for preferential rates of US federal
income taxation in respect of dividend income distributed in taxable years beginning on
or before December 31, 2008. US corporations may be eligible for a dividends received
deduction with respect to dividend income. Constructive dividends on the notes are not
eligible for these preferential rates or for the dividends received deduction. If the
distribution exceeds our current and accumulated earnings and profits, the excess will
be treated first as a tax-free return of capital up to your adjusted basis in the common
stock. Any remaining excess will be treated as capital gain.

If an event occurs that dilutes the note holders� interest and the conversion price is not
adjusted, the resulting increase in the proportionate interests of our stockholders could
be treated as a taxable stock dividend to them.

Information reporting and backup withholding

In general, information reporting requirements will apply to payments of principal,
interest and dividends paid on our notes and common stock and to the proceeds of sale
of our notes and common stock paid to U.S. holders other than certain exempt
recipients (such as corporations). A backup withholding tax will apply to such
payments if you fail to provide a taxpayer identification number or certification of other
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exempt status. Backup withholding may also apply if we are notified by the IRS that
such withholding is required or that the taxpayer identification number you provided is
incorrect.

Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules will be allowed as a refund
or a credit against your US federal income tax liability provided the required
information is furnished to the IRS.

Tax consequences to non-US holders

This section applies to you if you are a non-US holder and the interest you receive and
gain you recognize is not effectively connected with your conduct of a US trade or
business. If the interest you receive and gain you recognize is effectively connected
with your conduct of a US trade or business, you will be subject to rules similar to
those described above for US holders. However, these rules are complex and you
should consult with your tax advisors. This section assumes that we are at no time a �US
real property holding corporation.� We believe that we are not a US real property
holding corporation and do not expect to become such a corporation, although there can
be no assurance that we will not become such a corporation. If we do become a US real
property holding corporation, there could be adverse tax consequences to a non-US
holder.
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Interest

Subject to the discussion below concerning backup withholding, payments of interest
on the notes by us or any paying agent to you will not be subject to US federal
withholding tax, provided that pursuant to the �portfolio interest� exception:

� you do not own, actually or constructively, 10% or more of the combined voting
power of all classes of our stock entitled to vote,

� you are not a controlled foreign corporation (within the meaning of the Code)
that is related, directly or indirectly, to us,

� you are not a bank receiving interest on the notes on an extension of credit made
pursuant to a loan agreement entered into in the ordinary course of your trade or
business, and

� you satisfy certain certification requirements regarding your status as a non-US
holder.

Payments of interest on the notes that do not meet the above-described requirements
will be subject to a US federal income tax of 30% (or such lower rate provided by an
applicable income tax treaty if you establish that you qualify to receive the benefits of
such treaty) collected by means of withholding.

Conversion

You generally will not recognize any income, gain or loss on converting a note into
common stock. However, any gain recognized as a result of your receipt of cash in lieu
of a fractional share of stock will be subject to the rules described below with respect to
a sale or exchange of common stock and any stock received with respect to accrued
interest may be subject to the rules for payments of interest described above.

Dividends

Subject to the discussion of backup withholding, below, dividends paid to you on
common stock received on conversion of a note will be subject to a US federal income
tax of 30% (or such lower rate provided by an applicable income tax treaty if you
establish that you qualify to receive the benefits of such treaty) collected by means of
withholding. Any taxable constructive stock dividend resulting from a change to, or
failure to change, the conversion price would be treated like dividends paid in cash.
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Sale, exchange, redemption or repurchase of the notes and sale or exchange of
common stock

Subject to the discussion of backup withholding, below, you will not be subject to US
federal income tax on any gain (including gain attributable to market discount) realized
on the sale, exchange, redemption or repurchase of the notes or the sale or exchange of
common stock unless you are an individual, you are present in the United States for at
least 183 days during the year in which you dispose of the note or common stock, and
other conditions are satisfied.

Information reporting and backup withholding

The amount of interest payments and dividends paid to you and the amount of tax, if
any, withheld with respect to such payments will be reported annually to the IRS.
Copies of the information returns reporting such interest payments, dividends and
withholding may also be made available to the tax authorities in the country in which
you reside under the provisions of an applicable income tax treaty.

In general, backup withholding will not be required with respect to payments made by
us or any paying agent to you, provided you meet certain certification requirements
regarding your status as a non-US holder (and we or the paying agent do not have
actual knowledge or reason to know that you are a US person).

Information reporting and, depending on the circumstances, backup withholding will
apply to the proceeds of a sale of notes or common stock within the United States or
conducted through US-related financial intermediaries unless you meet certain
certification requirements (and we or the paying agent do not have actual knowledge or
reason to know that you are a US person) or you otherwise establish an exemption.
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Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules will be allowed as a refund
or a credit against your US federal income tax liability provided the required
information is furnished to the IRS.

US federal estate tax

A note held or beneficially owned by an individual who, for estate tax purposes, is not a
citizen or resident of the United States at the time of death will not be includable in the
decedent�s gross estate for US estate tax purposes, provided that (i) such holder or
beneficial owner did not at the time of death actually or constructively own 10% or
more of the combined voting power of all of our classes of stock entitled to vote and
(ii) at the time of death, payments with respect to such note would not have been
effectively connected with the conduct by such holder of a trade or business in the
United States.

Common stock held or beneficially owned by an individual who, for estate tax
purposes, is not a citizen or resident of the United States at the time of death will be
included in the gross estate for the purpose of the US federal estate tax unless otherwise
provided by an applicable estate tax treaty. Estates of non-resident non-citizens are
generally allowed a statutory credit which has the effect of offsetting the US federal
estate tax imposed on the first $60,000 of the taxable estate.
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Selling stockholders

We originally issued the notes in private placements in May 2004. $143,750,000
aggregate principle amount of notes were issued to two initial purchasers pursuant to
one indenture, and the remaining $9,000,000 aggregate principle amount of notes were
issued to another purchaser on the same terms and conditions pursuant to a
substantially identical indenture. Some of the notes were resold by the initial purchasers
to persons they or their agents reasonably believed to be qualified institutional buyers
under Rule 144A under the Securities Act. Selling securityholders, including, to the
extent permitted, their transferees, pledges or donees or their successors, may use this
prospectus to offer and sell the notes and the shares of our common stock issuable upon
conversion of the notes.

The table below sets forth information about the beneficial ownership of the notes and
shares of our common stock by each selling securityholder who has timely provided us
with a completed and executed notice and questionnaire stating its intent to use this
prospectus to sell or otherwise dispose of notes and/or shares of our common stock that
may be issuable upon conversion of the notes.

We have prepared this table using information furnished to us by DTC and/or by or on
behalf of the selling securityholders. Except as otherwise indicated below, to our
knowledge, no selling securityholder nor any of its affiliates has held any position or
office with, been employed by or otherwise has had any material relationship with us or
our affiliates during the three years prior to the date of this prospectus.

Our registration of the notes and the shares of our common stock that may be issuable
upon conversion of the notes does not mean that the selling securityholders identified
below will sell all or any of these securities. In addition, the selling securityholders may
have sold, transferred or disposed of all or a portion of their notes since the date on
which they provided the information regarding their holdings in transactions exempt
from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Information concerning the
selling securityholders may change from time to time and any changed information will
be provided in a post-effective amendment of the registration statement of which this
prospectus is a part, if and when necessary.

Name (1)

Principal
Amount of Notes
Beneficially
Owned That
May be Sold

Number of Shares
of Common Stock
Issuable Upon
Conversion That
May be Sold (2)

Number of Shares
of Common Stock
Beneficially Owned
After Offering (3)

Percentage of
Common Stock
Outstanding

Alexandra Global
Master Fund Ltd. $ 2,000,000.00 301,114 �  *
American Investors
Life Insurance
Company $ 400,000.00 60,222 �  *
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Aristeia
International
Limited $ 6,225,000.00 937,217 �  1.25%
Aristeia Trading
LLC $ 1,275,000.00 191,960 �  *
ATSF-Transamerica
Convertible
Securities $ 8,000,000.00 1,204,456 �  1.60%
Chrysler
Corporation Master
Retirement Trust $ 640,000.00 96,356 �  *
City of Stamford
Police Pension
Fund $ 250,000.00 37,639 �  *
Context Convertible
Arbitrage Fund, LP $ 150,000.00 22,583 �  *
Context Convertible
Arbitrage Offshore,
LTD $ 350,000.00 52,694 �  *
DBAG London $ 5,254,000.00 791,027 �  1.05%
Delta Air Lines
Master Trust � CV $ 155,000.00 23,336 �  *
Delta Pilots
Disability &
Survivorship Trust �
CV $ 80,000.00 12,044 �  *
Deutsche Bank
Securities Inc. $ 3,150,000.00 474,254 �  *
DKR Sound Shore
Opportunity
Holding Fund Ltd. $ 100,000.00 15,055 �  *
DKR Sound Shore
Strategic Holding
Fund Ltd. $ 250,000.00 37,639 �  *
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Name (1)

Principal
Amount of Notes
Beneficially
Owned That

May
be Sold

Number of Shares
of Common Stock
Issuable Upon
Conversion That
May be Sold (2)

Number of Shares
of Common Stock
Beneficially Owned
After Offering (3)

Percentage of
Common Stock
Outstanding

Dodeca Fund L.P. $ 585,000.00 88,075 �  *
Evergreen Equity
Income $ 5,000,000.00 752,785 �  1.00%
Evergreen
Healthcare Fund $ 3,000,000.00 451,671 �  *
Fidelity Financial
Trust: Fidelity
Convertible
Securities Fund $ 19,200,000.00 2,890,696 �  3.84%
Fidelity Puritan
Trust: Fidelity
Balanced Fund $ 2,000,000.00 301,114 718,900 *
Geode U.S.
Convertible
Arbitrage Fund $ 2,000,000.00 301,114 �  *
Guggenheim
Portfolio Co. XV,
LLC $ 1,000,000.00 150,557 �  *
IDEX-Transamerica
Convertible
Securities Fund $ 4,000,000.00 602,228 �  *
Inflective
Convertible
Opportunity Fund I,
L.P. $ 15,000.00 2,258 �  *
International Truck
& Engine
Corporation
Retirement Plan for
Salaried Employees
Trust $ 85,000.00 12,797 �  *
International Truck
& Engine
Corporation
Retirement Retiree
Health Benefit
Trust $ 35,000.00 5,269 �  *
International Truck
& Engine
Corporation
Non-Contributory
Retirement Plan
Trust $ 85,000.00 12,797 �  *
J.A. & Kathryn
Albertson
Foundation $ 700,000.00 105,389 �  *
KBC Financial
Products USA, Inc. $ 500,000.00 75,278 �  *
Linden Capital L.P. $ 3,750,000.00 564,589 �  *
Lionhart Aurora
Fund LTD $ 60,000.00 9,033 �  *
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Lionhart Global
Appreciation Fund
LTD $ 310,000.00 46,672 �  *
Lionhart Titan Fund
LTD $ 30,000.00 4,516 �  *
Motion Picture
Industry Health
Plan � Active
Member Fund $ 35,000.00 5,269 �  *
Motion Picture
Industry Health
Plan � Retiree
Member Fund $ 25,000.00 3,763 �  *
National Bank of
Canada c/o Putnam
Lovell NBF
Securities Inc. $ 3,000,000.00 451,671 �  *
OCM Convertible
Trust $ 315,000.00 47,425 �  *
OCM Global
Convertible
Securities Fund $ 25,000.00 3,763 �  *
Partner Reinsurance
Company Ltd. $ 135,000.00 20,325 �  *
Pendragon
(Convertibles) Fund
LTD $ 609,000.00 91,689 �  *
Pendragon
(Guinevere) Fund
LLC $ 391,000.00 58,867 �  *
Qwest Occupational
Health Trust $ 35,000.00 5,269 �  *
RCG Halifax
Master Fund, LTD $ 500,000.00 75,278 �  *
RCG Latitude
Master Fund, LTD $ 2,000,000.00 301,114 �  *
Sagamore Hill Hub
Fund, LTD $ 40,000,000.00 6,022,284 �  8.01%
State Employees�
Retirement Fund of
the State of
Delaware $ 185,000.00 27,853 �  *
Stonebridge Life
Insurance $ 500,000.00 75,278 �  *
Sunrise Partners
Limited Partnership $ 12,000,000.00 1,806,685 �  2.40%
Tenor Opportunity
Master Fund LTD $ 1,000,000.00 150,557 �  *
The St. Paul
Travelers
Companies, Inc. �
Commercial Lines $ 30,000.00 4,516 �  *
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Name (1)

Principal
Amount of Notes
Beneficially
Owned

That May be Sold

Number of Shares
of Common Stock
Issuable Upon
Conversion That
May be Sold (2)

Number of Shares
of Common Stock
Beneficially Owned
After Offering (3)

Percentage of
Common Stock
Outstanding

The St. Paul
Travelers
Companies,
Inc. � Personal
Lines $ 20,000.00 3,011 �  *
Transamerica
Life Insurance
and Annuities
Co. $ 3,000,000.00 451,671 �  *
Transamerica
Occidental Life $ 500,000.00 75,278 �  *
Tribeca
Investments
LTD $ 4,500,000.00 677,506 �  *
UBS O�Connor
LLC f/b/o
O�Connor
Global
Convertible
Arbitrage
Master Ltd. $ 1,500,000.00 225,835 �  *
UBS O�Connor
LLC f/b/o
O�Connor
PIPES
Corporate
Strategies
Master Ltd. $ 250,000.00 37,639 �  *
UnumProvident
Corporation $ 60,000.00 9,033 �  *
Vanguard
Convertible
Securities
Fund, Inc. $ 2,055,000.00 309,394 �  *
Xavex
Convertible
Arbitrage 5
Fund $ 500,000.00 75,278 �  *
Unnamed
holders of notes
or future
transferees,
pledges, donees
or their
successors (4) $ 8,946,000.00 1,346,883 �  1.79%
Total $ 152,750,000.00 22,997,568 718,900 30.58%

* Less than 1%

(1) Individuals and entities who receive shares of our common stock covered by this
prospectus from a selling securityholder as a gift or in connection with a pledge, after
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the effective date of the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, may
sell up to 500 of those shares using this prospectus.

(2) Assumes conversion of the full amount of notes held by the selling securityholder at
the rate of approximately 150.5571 shares of our common stock per $1,000 in principal
amount of the notes. The conversion rate and the number of shares of common stock
issuable upon conversion of the notes may adjust under circumstances described under
�Description Of Notes�Conversion Rights.� Accordingly, the number of shares of our
common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes may increase or decrease from
time to time. Under the terms of the notes, cash will be paid instead of issuing any
fractional shares. As a result, the total number of shares of Oscient common stock listed
in this column (22,997,568) is less than the number of shares of our common stock
initially issuable upon conversion of the notes (22,997,597 shares).

(3) Assumes that the selling securityholder has sold all the shares of our common stock
shown as being issuable upon the assumed conversion of notes listed next to its name
and represents additional shares of our common stock beneficially owned before the
offering.

(4) Assumes that the unnamed holders of the notes or future transferees, pledgees,
donees or successors of or from any such unnamed holders do not beneficially own any
of our common stock other than the common stock that may be issuable upon
conversion of the notes. Except as indicated in note (1), no unnamed holder may use
this prospectus to offer or sell notes or shares of our common stock until such unnamed
holder is identified as a selling securityholder in a post-effective amendment of the
registration statement of which this prospectus is a part.
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Plan of distribution

We are registering the notes and the shares of common stock that may be issuable upon
conversion of the notes for resale by the selling securityholders listed in this prospectus
or in a supplement to this prospectus. The aggregate proceeds to the selling
securityholders from the sale of the notes or underlying common stock will be the
purchase price of the notes or common stock less discounts and commissions, if any.
Each of the selling securityholders reserves the right to accept and, together with their
agents from time to time, to reject, in whole or in part, any proposed purchase of notes
or underlying common stock to be made directly or through agents. We will not receive
any of the proceeds from the offering of the notes or the underlying shares of common
stock by the selling securityholders.

The selling securityholders, or their pledgees, donees or transferees of, or other
successors in interest to, the selling securityholders, may sell all or a portion of the
notes and the underlying shares of common stock from time to time to purchasers
directly or through broker-dealers or agents, who may receive compensation in the form
of discounts, concessions or commissions from the selling securityholders or the
purchasers of the notes and the underlying common stock. The selling securityholders
will act independently of us in making decisions with respect to the timing, manner and
size of each sale.

The selling securityholders and any such broker-dealers or agents who participate in the
distribution of the notes and the underlying common stock may be deemed to be
�underwriters� (as this term is defined in the Securities Act). As a result, any discounts,
commissions, concessions or profits they earn on the resale of the notes and the
underlying common stock may be underwriting discounts and commissions under the
Securities Act. If the selling securityholders were deemed to be underwriters, the
selling securityholders may be subject to statutory liabilities as underwriters under the
Securities Act. Selling holders who are �underwriters� within the meaning of the
Securities Act are subject to the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act.
The selling securityholders have acknowledged their obligations to comply with the
provisions of the Exchange Act and the rules thereunder relating to stock manipulation,
particularly Regulation M.

The notes and the underlying shares of our common stock may be sold in one or more
transactions at fixed prices, prevailing market prices at the time of sale, prices related to
the prevailing market prices, varying prices determined at the time of sale, or negotiated
prices. These sales may be effected in transactions:

� on any national securities exchange or U.S. inter-dealer system of a registered
national securities association on which the notes or the underlying shares of our
common stock may be listed or quoted at the time of sale, which may include the
Nasdaq National Market;
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� in the over-the-counter market;

� in transactions otherwise than on such exchanges or services or in the
over-the-counter market;

� through the writing of options, whether the options are listed on an exchange or
otherwise; or

� through the settlement of short sales.

These transactions may include block transactions or crosses. Crosses are transactions
in which the same broker acts as an agent on both sides of the trade.

In connection with the sales of the notes and the underlying shares of our common
stock or otherwise, the selling securityholders may enter into hedging transactions with
broker-dealers or other financial institutions, which may in turn engage in short sales of
the notes and the underlying shares of our common stock in the course of hedging their
positions. The selling securityholders may also sell the notes and the underlying shares
of our common stock short and deliver notes and the underlying shares of our common
stock to close out short positions, or loan or pledge notes and the underlying shares of
our common stock to broker-dealers that in turn may sell the notes and the underlying
shares of our common stock.
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To our knowledge, there are currently no plans, arrangements or understandings
between any selling securityholders and any broker-dealer or agent regarding the sale
of the notes and the underlying shares of our common stock by the selling
securityholders. Selling securityholders may not sell any, or may not sell all, of the
notes and the underlying shares of shares of our common stock offered by them
pursuant to this prospectus. We cannot assure you that any such selling securityholder
will not transfer, devise or gift the notes and the underlying shares of our common
stock by other means not described in this prospectus.

A selling securityholder may decide not to sell any notes or the common stock issuable
upon conversion of the notes. In addition, any notes or underlying shares of our
common stock covered by this prospectus that qualify for sale pursuant to Rule 144 or
Rule 144A of the Securities Act may be sold under Rule 144 or Rule 144A rather than
pursuant to this prospectus.

The selling securityholders and any other person participating in a distribution will be
subject to the Exchange Act. The Exchange Act rules include, without limitation,
Regulation M, which may limit the timing of purchases and sales of any of the notes
and the underlying shares of our common stock by the selling securityholders and any
such other person engaged. In the addition, Regulation M of the Exchange Act may
restrict the ability of any person engaged in the distribution of the notes and the
underlying shares of our common stock being distributed for a period of up to five
business days prior to the commencement of such distribution. This may affect the
marketability of the notes and the underlying shares of our common stock and the
ability of any person or entity to engage in market-making activities with respect to the
notes and the underlying shares of our common stock.

Our outstanding common stock is quoted on the Nasdaq National Market under the
symbol �OSCI�. The notes are not listed on any securities exchange. Any notes that are
resold by means of this prospectus will no longer be eligible for trading in The
PORTAL Market.

We entered into a registration rights agreement for the benefit of the holders of the
notes to register their notes and common stock under the Securities Act laws under
specific circumstances and at specific times. The registration rights agreement provides
for cross-indemnification of the selling securityholders and us and their and our
respective directors, officers and controlling persons against specific liabilities in
connection with the offer and sale of the notes and the common stock, including some
liabilities under the Securities Act. We have agreed to pay substantially all the expenses
incidental to the registration, offering and sale of the notes and the underlying shares of
our common stock to the public other than commissions, fees and discounts of
underwriters, broker-dealers and agents. Our obligation to keep the registration
statement of which this prospectus is a part effective is subject to exceptions. In certain
cases, we may prohibit offers and sales of notes and the underlying shares of our
common stock pursuant to such registration statement.
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Validity of notes and common stock

The validity of the notes and the shares of Oscient common stock issuable upon
conversion of the notes will be passed upon for us by our counsel, Ropes & Gray LLP,
Boston, Massachusetts.

Experts

The consolidated financial statements of Oscient Pharmaceuticals Corporation as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002 and for the years then ended, included in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, have been audited by
Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, as set forth in their
report thereon included therein and incorporated herein by reference. Such consolidated
financial statements are incorporated herein by reference in reliance upon such report
given on the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

The consolidated financial statements of Genesoft Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, and for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2003, included in our Periodic Reports on Form 8-K/A, filed on January
30, 2004 and April 16, 2004, have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent
registered public accounting firm, as set forth in their reports thereon included therein
and incorporated herein by reference. Such consolidated financial statements are
incorporated herein by reference in reliance upon such reports given on the authority of
such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.
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